
Interview with Mr. Wilfred McNeil 
June 7,1976 

Condit: Mr. NcNeil, I would like to capture on tape some of the things you were 

saying at lunch. Would you repeat, please, your comments on Secretary Johnson's 

resignation? 

McNeil: In the summer of 1950, there was a buildup against Johnson in the press. It 

came to a head on a Saturday. I got a call in the office, asking whether it was true 

that Secretary Johnson was resigning. I called Steve Early, at Buming Tree and 

asked him, and he said there was nothing to it. Later, that aftemoon, he called 

back. There must be something to the rumor, he thought, because he was hearing it 

from too many sources. 

On Sunday morning, I was with Early at his home. We decided not to call 

Secretary Johnson at his home in Clarksburg, West Virginia, but rather wait until 

Monday. On Monday morning, Steve and I were in the office at 7:15 a.m., when 

Johnson arrived. He knew right away that something was wrong, because Steve 

Early never came in until 10 or so. Johnson wanted to know what was wrong. Early, 

without hesitation, told him "he had been fired." (I would have taken half a day). 

Johnson said that he would go to the White House to see the President and find out. 

When he came back an hour or so later, he said-"You're right. I've been fired." 

Well, there were four of us sitting in the office talking things over-Early, 

Marx, Leva, Admiral Davis, and myself. There had been gossip about the 

possibility of Symington taking over as Secretary of Defense. It was an accepted 
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'fact" that he wanted it. We asked ourselves, who would be best for the 

Department, who would Truman have so much respect for that he oould never resist 

asking him. That had to be General Marshall. So Johnson's resignation named 

General Marshall as the man who should succeed him. "Somehow" it was leaked to 

the press. That aftemoon Truman called Marshall. It worked. At least, it meant 

getting the best man for the Department of Defense. 

Condit: What were Marshall's major oontributions during the year he was Secretary 

of Defense? 

McNeil: I guess you'd have to say, his integrity. The Congress and the public really 

respected him. That was the main thing. 

Administrator was not his forte. Bringing in Lovett to be, in effect, a general 

manager made the oombination a winning team effort. 

Condit: How did the policy of limited mobilization for the Korean War come about? 

Did you have any part in the adoption of this policy? 

McNeil: There was great pressure for going to a full mobilization basis. A lot of 

people wanted to rush into a rapid buildup, convert industry, buy everything in sight. 

But, in fact, we did have a substantive stock of some items available from World 

War II. 

Sometime around the first week of December 1950, I wrote a memorandum 

to the Secretary suggesting that we didn't need to go all out, that the best thing to do 

was to move up gradually but do it selectively. We should get what we needed for 

Korea and be ready to move ahead rapidly if we had to, but not to rush into more 

than was necessary. Later that day, I asked Lovett if he had seen the memorandum. 
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He said he had, but didn't give me the satisfaction of saying anything more about 

it-at that moment. Later I found that Marshall had accepted the philosophy. 

Condit: What made you worry? Was it Symington's suggestion for full mobilization 

that worried you? 

McNeil: Well, Symington, but there was also a great deal in the press too. The Air 

Force had just gotten its divorce from the Army, and it took time for them to settle 

down. They were seizing every opportunity for rapid expansion in the Air Force, 

even beyond their capability to do it. 

Condit: Well, when did you know that your memorandum was accepted? 

McNeil: When Marshall said, "I want to take this to the Cabinet this aftemoon." 

Condit: That was the day you wrote it? The day you gave it in? 

McNeil: Yes. 

Condit: And then did Truman write an okay on it? 

McNeil: I assume so. At least Marshall testified to the concept a few days later. 

Condit: And Marshall and Lovett stayed with that right on through. Now, while we 

are on that, what about the stretch out in 1952 for the fiscal year 1953 budget? 

Were you the author of that also? 

3 

McNeil: Well, I probably contributed but, I was rather the action agent in carrying out 

the agreement between Marshall, Lovett, and the administration. I certainly didn't 

dream up all the ideas. 

You have to go back to the philosophy of the organization. In following 

Forrestal's philosophy of organization for the Department of Defense, there needed 

to be a mechanism that would provide some intemal checks and balances. If you : 
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had one group advocating something, you ought to have another group coldly 

analyzing it to see whether you want to buy the whole idea or proposal or not. 

Invariably, you come out with different answers because you are on a collision 

course on many policies. That's where good solid citizens like Marshall, Lovett, 

etc., and as I mentioned earlier a lot of the senior military, show their great value. 

Senior military people may make some exaggerated statements in their speeches. 

When you present the pros and cons, say. of an extremely rapid buildup, and show 

that that is not in the cards, you will find that a great many will accept a modification 

although perhaps their speeches may not sound like it. 

My concept when I was named the first Fiscal Director of the Navy in 1944-

Forrestal's concept really-was that we should pull the programs and the money 

together and try to point out the weaknesses, etc., etc .• so the seniors could make 

decisions. My staff and I were accused or charged many times with making policy. 

4 

Perhaps we did, but we didn't develop pOSitions with the idea of making policy. We 

did it with the idea of assembling the facts and figures and coming out with a 

balance sheet-which frequently dictated policy. We got credit for doing it. But 

actually, what we had done was to deal, in the case of the Air Force later-1952-

with the fact that they were not making progress toward a 143-wing force; they were 

not even getting above 90, and going over 120 was all you could expect in the next 

couple of years. Therefore, they didn't need as much advance authority as they 

might have thought a year or two before that. When you make up a balance sheet 

and show that they don't need that authority to achieve all they are physically 

capable of, you can get a policy decision. In fact the decision shows for itself. 
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Condit: This morning Mr. Lovett said something about one of the great contributions 

of his term being your performance budgeting. I wonder, while we are on this 

subject, if you would just like to go ahead into question 4 and talk about 

performance budgeting? 

McNeil: Yes, I will. First, one of the typewritten questions you sent up here the day 

before was about Wilson and his group. 

Hoffman: That is probably my question. 

McNeil: Why he was so calm, so apparently calm and unperturbed about the 

strength of Russia, and so forth. Is that it? 

Hoffman: Yes, sir. 

McNeil: Well, it goes back to the balance sheet idea again. As an example, I wrote 

a paper in 1959, which the Reader's Digest wanted to publish, but I couldn't do it 

under my name because it was in part at least State Department business. Senator 

Prescott Bush finally used excerpts from it. It was published in the Reader's Digest 

about June or July of that year.· I have only this one copy but you can take it, if you 

don't mind mimeographing it, and you can send it back. I started the artide this 

way. Reverse the situation: Give us the Russian capability and give them ours. I 

wonder how we'd feel? I try to show that certain types of aircraft located in Mexico, 

Venezuela, etc., are not too different from our having fighter type aircraft which could 

carry a big weapon in France, Italy, etc. If you pretend you are planning for both 

sides, I think you tend to avoid excesses and omissions. It might in some instances 

• Prescott Sheldon Bush, "To Preserve Peace Let's Show the Russians How Strong We Are!" Reaper's 
~ 75 (July 1959), pp. 25-30. 
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force a more rapid buildup; in other cases, it might indicate we are in pretty good 

shape-let's don't go wild. But it also depends on adoption of a basic philosophy. 

Are you going to have Defense on a feast or famine basis, as we did before World 

War II? Or are you going to build up a reasonable strength and maintain it so long 

as there is trouble in the world? So you adopt that policy. It a nswers a great many 

questions. 

Condit: Does performance budgeting allow you to do that? 

McNeil: It tends to force decisions based on fact and the exercise of judgment. 

Condit: When did it really come into effect, Mr. McNeil? 

McNeil: Well, the act, which authorized it, was passed in September 1949 but it 

was known that it was a five or ten year job to get the program underway. The 

6 

performance budgeting system covers a series of administrative procedures. In this 

Department, it is not like an administrative budget for the Department of Commerce 

or Labor, where you are just budgeting for salaries, rents, paper, and so forth. It 

must cover procurement, maintenance of equipment, maintenance of stations, 

operation of ships, aircraft manufacturing, services facilities such as providing post 

exchanges, etc., etc. 

When I was made fiscal director for the Navy, I wanted to get the basic 

planning and funding organization so organized that it become an intemal check 

and a balance mechanism and provide a better means of control and direction. I 

wanted a procedure so that the commander of a ship would be a customer of the 

Navy Yard. As a customer, he would "squawk" at the price or the quality of the work. 

While you could have somebody go out and make an examination or have a 
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management engineer produce a study, it would never be as effective as to have 

the customer riding herd on the shipyard (supplier), having the customer ride herd 

on the printing plant as to quality and numbers and price. 

That type of thinking gave birth to a part of Title IV of the Amendments to the 

National Security Act, which were passed in September 1949. That is really part of 

the budgeting process, although some people wouldn't recognize it as such. Title IV 

provides for industrial or commercial-type activities to be organized as commercial 

business ventures, which means it is operating under a working capital concept. 

First, we got authority from Congress to take money which had lapsed and to bring 

it back to life to become the working capital of these "corporate" enterprises. To 

establish the working capital didn't cause any expenditures as far as the public was 

concerned, but it gave a memorandum flQure against which you could write checks 

until you could collect from the customer. 

The first industrial fund activity started was in the Pentagon basement, the 

printing plant. Subsequently, everybody who got printing done in the Pentagon was 

charged for it. The printing plant could not determine the numbers of copies they 

could have, but it did charge them with the cost of the operation. Immediately, 

everybody who wanted printing done had to take a look and see if his own budget 

could support it. It provided a constraint. Up to then you had a budget for printing 

but everybody reached in on the shelf and took out what they pleased without 
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The first large organization established under the industrial fund was the 

Military Sea Transportation Service, which we started out with, I think, about $85 

million working capital. 

Condit: Was that MSTS or MATS? 

McNeil: MSTS. Now comes the most important part. The Army, right after the 

divorce of the Air Force, wanted to do the housekeeping for the Air Force, wanted 

to keep all the functions they could. But the Navy didn't want to do any 

housekeeping for anybody else because they felt that any dollar that went into 

housekeeping meant one less dollar for purely Navy purposes. Some mechanism 

such as corporate organization or a working-capital operation, where everybody 

paid for what they used, was the only way you could get single service performance, 

get a single service to do housekeeping for others. 

The minute the Navy knew they would get reimbursed on a tariff basis for the 

work they did for the Army, Navy, Air Force, Marines, and State Department, they 

gladly would run MSTS. Meantime, Air Force, Army, and everybody was critical of 

MSTS because it charged too much. Thafs exactly the kind of atmosphere we 

wanted to create-where every shipper was squawking about the tariffs. And when 

four stars and three starts, etc, started to squawk, they had much more effect than a 

gold-embossed report from a management engineer. Then instead of budgeting for 

200 ships to operate and steam anywhere anybody wanted, you budgeted for the 

service you wanted rendered-for moving x tons of material from San Francisco to 

Korea, or for carrying so many people. You had flexibility to run things more 
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Before the MSTS was started, ammunition ships used to be idle in San 

Francisco harbor for an average of 50 days as I recall it. Once MSTS got going, it 

was so managed that the average layover time was less than four days. 

Condit: How far did you carry this forward during Lovett's time? 

McNeil: MSTS was started before Lovett. But it was a continuous process. I was 

lucky, because every boss I had supported me, and Lovett supported me beautifully. 

I brought a copy along of the Committee Report (No.1 064, 81 !it Congress, 1st 

Session) which-there aren't many copies around any more-tells the reasons for 

some of these things. 

Another type of operation, certainly related to performance budgeting, is the 

authority to pool funds for a multi-agency task. When I went out to Bikini for the first 

A-bomb shot, I couldn't help but see I had known it before but that series of 

experiments provided it-that Army, Navy, and Air Force, practically every activity of 

Government, had some experiment or something going on out in Bikini. Admiral 

William H. P. Blandy had 189 pots of money that he used to operate Bikini, 189 

different allotments. That's a hell of a way to run a railroad! So I wanted legislation, 

which I got from Congress, which made it possible to dump 189 different pots of 

money into one management fund. When Admiral Blandy's successor went out to 

Bikini he had one "pot of money" to operate the experiment. We got authority form 

Congress to charge each one of the 189 according to the estimated cost of each 

activity. 

That's important, because GAO could not look behind the distribution. If we 

spent $10 million, we distributed $10 million in costs. We couldn't distribute $11 
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million. Because of the competition between entities of the Govemment, you 

couldn't, from a practical standpoint, charge one any more than a responsible 

approximation. Yo u had to prove what you were charging for, but you didn't have to 

get down and worry about the odd cents. This management fund idea really made 

so much sense. Well, take a bus line running around San Francisco Bay area. If 

you had only one bus line serving, Navy wasn't going to do it, Army wasn't going to, 

and Air Force wasn't going to. But you could have one running under a 

management fund, picking up all the school kids or workers for some activity, and 

you could distribute the cost on the basis of head count at the end of the month. 

That might be just an example. Any reasonable solution. But again, it ties into trying 

to put a price tag on the services rendered or the material purchased. 

"Performance budgeting" was in a sense what Hoover labeled it. 

Condit: Can I go back to Secretary Johnson for just a moment and my first question. 

I have seen what you have told Dr. Goldberg before about Secretary Johnson and I 

was very glad to see that assessment. I think it is a more rational assessment of the 

Secretary than is the usual case, because he was certainly subject to the press 

buildup against him. But how would you assess our military posture at the start of 

the Korean War on June 25, 1950, and to what forces would you attribute that 

posture? 

McNeil: Well, I think you have to go back to the directions that Truman gave 

Johnson. That's been one of the things that the press and the public never 

understood about Johnson's efforts to cut back. He was in sympathy with it, but he 

did not do it on his own initiative. On July fifth, shortly after Johnson came aboard- , 
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Frank Pace was Director of the Budget-Truman had the Secretaries and the 

Chiefs at a meeting in its Cabinet Room at the White House. Johnson, Early, and I 

were there, in addition to service secretaries and the Chiefs. Truman laid out how 

he wanted expenditures controlled, expenditures of previous and current budgets 

controlled: He put a limit on new obligational authority in the new budget, as I recall 

$13 billion, of which half a billion was for stockpiling and critical materials. Not a 

solitary Secretary or Chief made a complaint. I objected, because a couple of 

things weren't possible. After quite a little argument, Truman said, 'Well, you work it 

out with Frank Pace." I did, that afternoon, at least taking the stockpiling out, still 

leaving the budget about $13 billion-an effective increase of a half billion dollars. 

However, to meet that figure required a lot of cutbacks. This was directed by 

Truman. 

Condit: This was on fiscal year 1950 or 1951 ? 

McNeil: 1951-this was July 1950. 

Condit: July 1950? On both budgets? ... Both. 

McNeil: No, July 1949. I am sorry, July 1949. That was a pretty sharp cutback. 

Also he set an expenditure limitation. The Navy jumped in right away and made the 

program adjustments awfully fast. When you cut back, if you cut back 

quickly, the result is minimized. But if you let it drag one-two-three-four-five months 

and then make program changes for the last two or three months of a year, it will 

virtually wreck you. Navy did it very promptly, but Army didn't remodel their 

programs for five or six months, and as a result programs were seriously affected. 
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McNeil: Yes, so they absorbed thei r-I hate to say "share" -their target. They did 

that in less than 60 days. We had 10 months to absorb the cutback. The Army took 

months before they got their rework of their plans, and it hurt the Army very badly. 

Condit: General Lemnitzer is very bitter toward Secretary Johnson about the Army 

cutback. 

McNeil: They were, but part of it was their own fault. It is like the New York City 

situation now. If you have trouble, you had better get in and fix it quickly; then the 

cutback doesn't have to be as sharp and as difficult to save the same amount of 

money. 

Condit: Well now, the budget for FY 1951 was set at $13 billion by Truman, if I 

remember correctly. 

McNeil: $13. maybe a little more. Frank Pace was Directorofthe Budget. 

Condit: When the war came in June 1950, the country blamed Secretary Johnson 

for the cutbacks. Now, I understood that perhaps it was his style of cutting back, that 

he was very flamboyant about it. Is that true? 

McNeil: This is quite true. I said it in a different way; I said the public acceptance. 

Condit: That's true. Public acceptance was nil, wasn't it? 

McNeil: I am sure he sympathized with Truman, so he didn't object too much. But 

Truman was the one who directed the cutbacks. 

Condit: Well now, when Johnson testified before Congress, he said something to 

the effect that the country was in better shape to move ahead, to mobilize. It wasn't 

in a better readiness posture, but it was in better preparation to mobilize than it had 
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McNeil: Well, it certainly was true compared with the times before World War I or II. 

Condit: What about from 1946 on? 

McNeil: No, I wouldn't think so. 

Condit: We were less prepared in 1950 than we were in 1948? 

McNeil: Not in degree, but in numbers, yes. There had been a pretty sharp cutback 

in numbers since 1948. 

Condit: So you really wouldn't buy Johnson's statement to Congress? 

McNeil: No. But overall, you were in pretty good shape from the standpoint of 

materiel because of what was left over from World War II. As far as Navy ships 

were concerned, they were practically all new. Ships-good for 20 to 25 years-

had only been at sea for five or ten years, so that you were in better shape than you 

were before World War II. You didn't have to get certain kinds of artillery, rifles, etc., 

but the Army was pretty well in difficulty as far as numbers of personnel were 

concerned. 

Condit: To what do you attribute Truman's passion for economy? 

McNeil: Well, I think there were a lot of people who agreed on a balanced budget, 

and he didn't think, as Forrestal did, that we were still in trouble in the world. 

Condit: Did you feel that the Services were able to use the money efficiently after 

the war started? 

McNeil: To a degree; that is all relative. I don't think they bought many things they 

didn't need. I think that all of us probably went along with more money for the Air 

Force than they could properly use in 1952 and 1953. That article right there gives 
I 

I 

I 
a little explanation of it. The Air Force was heading for a 143-wing air force at the ~ 
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time, which we thought, was a little strong. Anyway, it was a target and we knew that 

we wouldn't reach it for two or three or four years. But when we got along into 1953 

they had only gotten to a point where they had a force of 93 wings, some of those 

still not in readiness condition. The interim goal was set at 120 wings, which was a 

cutback. That, plus the fact that they hadn't got as far in 1952 and 1953 as was 

originally planned, meant that they had excess obligational authority or buying 

power. That was the reason for the cutback in 1953. 

Hoffman: I would like to pursue that. That budget was the one you designed 

originally. Why was the excess authority allowed to remain in there in 19521 

McNeil: Well, obligational authority held in reserve doesn't cost the taxpayers any 

money, if you have it under control. And this was pretty well under control. This was 

a decision under Truman, once the Korean War started, not to take any action to 

remove the excess. The excess developed gradually, slowly, because the Air Force 

was certain they were going to have 120 wings right quick. They were certain that 

Boeing, etc., etc., were going to come through a little faster than they did with the 

design. This indicated any number of facets of the Air Force operation; they just 

didn't get organized quickly. The Chiefs, the Secretary of Defense, and men of my 

own rank were influenced a bit, thought they would get along a little faster. The Air 

Force was a new outfit, and they didn't have the necessary intemallogistics support. 

The old Signal Corps of the Army used to do their buying for them, remember? I 

think we probably all thought the Air Force was more competent to get things done 

than they really were. 
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Hoffman: You were the author of the precise figure that was put in between the 

revision of FY 1954 budget and the initial 1954 budget? 

McNeil: Oh, I am sure, but it wasn't a final figure. It was a result of a current look, 

rather than it was trying to make a final precise figure. After that, we got to the point 

where we again had budgets for the future. They were based on target plans and 

figures, yes. But not at that time. 

Hoffman: Well, each year, in the office papers of the Comptrollers office, I have 

come across a figure that would come down from the NSC, sometime in November 

usually. A precise, allowable defense spending figure. Now, I am wondering who 

was the author of that. Were you the author, the Bureau of the Budget, Secretary 

Humphrey? 

McNeil: I would say that the NSC staff-Bob Et were primarily responsible but we 

weren't paying too much attention to them. That was after the fact, because actually 

most of the work had been done before those figures were gotten together. It 

disturbed me very much that they did planning in this order. To me the time spread 

from initial planning and the translation of such figures into budget terms was entirely 

too long. The year in which you were going to operate was 18 months still in the 

future. That's the reason I got the Director of the Bureau of the Budget to assign his 

budget people to the Department of Defense. You knew that happened, didn't you? 

It was the only Department in the Government to do that. We sold the President on 

the idea of allocating 30 or 40 people from the Bureau of the Budget to the 

Department of Defense to shorten the time between plans and budget submission 

to Congress. They were afraid they would be seduced, but we reassured them that 
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influence them. According to the law, you know, the budget is supposed to be 
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submitted in September. By doing this 000 didn't have to submit a budget until 

December. That was done in order to shorten the interval between the time you got 

your authority and the time you used it. If you could get it out of Congress on time in 

early spring and final planning had been done in November/December, that meant a 

shorter time between planning and program implementation. 

Condit: Mr. Lovett has written more than once that the budget process was one of 

the major means by which the Secretary of Defense could control the OSD. How 

does that work? 

McNeil: it is very simple. The Secretary of Defense or Secretary of a Service can 

sign directives till H- freezes over, and not much will happen. But to shut off the 

faucet is a sure way to stop something; or if he furnishes money, it is a sure way to 

help it along. 

Condit: How much authority does the SecDef have to stop the money? 

McNeil: Virtually complete. More than they ever exercise. 

Condit: He can just tell them not to use it? 

NcNeil: Sure. Don't allocate it. Now they are getting to a pOint in Congress, of 

course, where Congress is questioning the apportionment process. The President 

doesn't have as much authority under the apportionment process as he used to 
I 

~ve. I 

Condit: I can see the President, but I didn't realize that, in addition to the President, I 
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McNeil: I'll tell you a litUe story. Shortly after the Unification Act was passed, the Air 

Force operated as if everything they did was secret, top secret. They had a lot of 

fun classifying material of an administrative nature. When they were up before the 

House Committee on Appropriations in 1950 or thereabouts, Congressman Harry 

Sheppard was trying to get them to put on the record what they did out at San 

Bernardino on the Safety Board. They said they couldn't tell him because it was 

classified. This went on for about an hour. Meantime, one of the derks of the 

committee called me and said, "You got troubles up here. The Air Force is in 

trouble with Taber and Cannon and the committee and they won't talk." I said, 

"Okay, I'll come up." Just as I arrived, John Taber-did you ever hear of him?-

Condit: No. 

McNeil: He was the senior Republican on the committee. He squirmed out of his 

chair and he said, "Gentlemen, you may be right. Maybe this committee doesn't 

have any authority to look into such operations. We are interested only in those 

things that take money, and if this takes no money we have no interest." The next 

day there was a truck backed up under the steps of the Capitol and about three tons 

of reports on San Bemardino were delivered to the committee! That is a true story. 

Condit: Can the SecDef on his own say the Air Force won't get money that the 

Congress has appropriated? Although Congress is now raising questions about it. 

McNeil: We used to do it. We used to do it frequently. 
i 
I 

I 
Condit: You did it for him? 

McNeil: Sure. 
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McNeil: Well, it was not done without his knowledge. He may have not known the 

exact figure. 

Condit: I see. 

McNeil: Forrestal understood that. 

Condit: In wartime it is harder to exercise that, isn't it? 

McNeil: In the first place, no Secretary would be irresponsible, he WOUldn't cut off 

funds just for the fun of it. 

Condit: No, he would realize he had a possible fight on his hands. 

McNeil: Sure. 

Condit: How did wartime affect that? Didn't that change the relative power position 

of the Secretary and the Services? 

McNeil: War changed the amounts more than the procedure. 

Condit: He would have to cut off more before he would have any power? 

McNeil: Yes. For example, consider an allocation to the Air Force and the Bureau 

of Aeronautics. You might allocate 80 percent and withhold 20 percent, until they 

got a flying-hour program approved. Their original flying program might have been 

50 hours per pilot per month, and maybe it developed that 35 hours was just about 

all they were going to have this year from the standpoint of the availability of aircraft 

and the necessity for training. This apportionment process is really quite a powerful 

process. Forrestal understood the need and use of it. Lovett and Wilson did too. I 

don't think some of the others quite understood its use as a management tool. 

Hoffman: You really used that apportionment process quite vigorously in the overrun 

problems associated with the FY 1957 and 1958 budgets. In fact, looking through 
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the period from early 1957 onward, you began to have trouble with Brundage. He 

cut below the various apportionment figures you wanted, which were pretty much 

austere figures to begin with. 

McNeil: We had problems with the apportionment process right along. 

Condit: Where does NSC 68 fit into the Korean War years? How far did we try to 

implement NSC 68 in addition to fighting the Korean War? 

McNeil: Well, I am a little fuzzy on that, on the exact impact of that now. NSC 68 

was kind of a target, not necessarily something we were going to achieve at any 

exact date. It was kind of a target we wanted to get to at the end of the road 

dependent in part on the availability of funds, but there were a lot of detours getting 

there. 

Condit: That represented a new look at the possible threat of Russia to the United 

States and our comparative position? 

McNeil: The big change in strategic concept, I guess you would call it, was in 1953, 

when Eisenhower named the "900d new Chiefs," as the press called them. One of 

the first things done at that time was to send the Chiefs down the river on the 

Sequoia for four or five days, with the idea of their ooming back with an agreed 

philosophy and possibly a change in concept, hopefully with an agreed upon plan. It 

didn't quite come out that way, but the net result in trying to determine priorities was 

to ask, "what was the most serious threat we have?" That would be the nuclear 

threat. So there was an increasing emphasis on the Strategic Air Command and 

Air Defense. Increased emphasis on those, and lesser emphasis on ground 
I 

support operations. This was primarily for the reason that you probably weren't t' 
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going to maintain year in and year out in Europe and elsewhere a three·million~man 

army, but you would put a high priority on air power by being able to retaliate to save 

yourself from "disaster." It was felt that, in the case of ground forces, you probably 

would have more time to develop and work out requirements as to numbers of men, 

supply training, and so forth. That was probably the biggest change under Ike-

when Ike asked for a new or current concept. 

Now, Radford, Chairman of the Chiefs, knew what that meant. So did the Air 

Force. Army never quite understood what that meant or did not choose to. I 

remember that General Ridgway came up one time with several of his staff, quite 

provoked about our action on the Army program. I said, "Usten, you were there 

when we took the Chiefs to the White House and explained the concept to Ike." 

When the new Chief got back from the Sequoia, Mr. Wilson took them to see Ike 

who spent three hours questioning them and talking about it. Ridgway finally said, "I 

thought that was just an exercise. To implement the concept I reduced Army buying 

by 5,000 trucks. This was an example of this new philosophy that Ike and Defense 

agreed on." In our staff work, we were merely carrying out the agreement, which had 

been developed by the Chiefs and approved by the President about July 1953 (It 

might have been June). While the paper itself didn't say so many airplanes, so 

many troops, and so forth, there was a philosophy that somebody had to interpret 

into numbers. We did that, and we caught hell for a while, but it was the philosophy 

that had been agreed upon. 

Condit: Well, that was the problem of postwar cutting back. What were your 
I 

greatest problems during the Korean War? Page determined to be Unc1il sifiad 
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McNeil: Well, I recall one budget, I forgot which year it was, that was submitted for 

$104-106 billion. It went to Congress in 1954. Some people thought that was 

evidence of a very silly operation that is permitting the submission of plans that 

could not have been financed. I never worried too much about such criticism; I 

always thought the smart thing for Defense to do (and still think so) was to list 

everything they might need. Then go down and start culling out the weak items. It is 

one way to establish priorities. 

It is just this simple: When the war was over I had a 1941 Oldsmobile. It had 

a hole in the floor mat where my heel rested from the accelerator, the bumper was 

bent, and so forth and so on. I went out one Sunday morning and made a list of all 

the things that dam thing needed, and it would cost about $500. I wasn't going to 

spend that much on an old car, so I came out with a $103 total bill and drove it for 

two years more. Well, the tooth was off the low gear but I never used the low gear 

anyway, I always used second, so I didn't have to fix that. I straightened the bumper. 

I used mastic for my rubber mat. So I came out with a fraction of the cost. 

Condit: You sound like Ron and me. 

Hoffman: I have a car with a hole in the muffler right now. 

McNeil: No, but I recall a lesson lleamed right at the end of the war (1945). Admiral 

George F. Hussey, Jr. was Chief of the Bureau of Ordnance. At that time the 

proximity fuse was one of the great new ideas, and it really was a very important 

thing. But there was still development work to do on it, although it had been used in 

the fleet for a couple of years. At that time, to live up to the President's limited 
f 

spending and so forth, we had used the allocated target; and the Bureau of , r" 
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Ordnance didn't have a single nickel for the further development of the fuse. Well, 

we got that fixed. But if he had been "permitted" to list everything he thought he 

needed, that would have been on the list. As I say, we caught it, and there was 

money in the budget for it, and development continued. But somewhere up through 

that pyramid structure, it had dropped out. 

Condit: Thank you very much, Mr. Secretary. That is the end of my list of questions 

and I will defer to Ron Hoffman now. 

McNeil: One more thing, about your performance budgeting. The Army in all its 

history never had its common leased property under financial control. Starting back 

at the time of the Spanish-American War, the Navy had a small fund of about $200 

thousand for "papers and pendls," which they then charged to the user. During 

World War I that got to be a pretty big Sears-and-Roebuck type of operation, where 

stuff on the shelf was charged to the fleet or whoever used it. 

We got authority in Title IV of the National Security Act to require that all 

property be kept under money control and that common use property be kept in 

what is known as stock funds. One reason for the name is that some people in 

Defense, in Navy in particular, knew what that meant. It meant that all common use 

supplies, like paint and so forth, would be under control of the "Sears, Roebuck 

Corporation" in each Service. For anything taken off the shelf, or if Navy got some 

stuff out of an Army warehouse, the user had to pay. It was charged to that project's 

operation for that year. See what I mean by the so-called performance budgeting? 

We were trying to get everything charged to the user and for the purpose it was 

used. We were trying to get such efficiency into the place that a guy at Bolling Field 
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who wanted to build something or repair something could draw 2,000 feet of lumber 

and be charged for it. Then if he used only 1,000 feet and he took the other 1,000 

feet back and put it in the store, he would get credit for that. You no longer would 

have stuff sitting around unused, because you would get credit for it if you took it 

back to the store. All this without any supervision and without any argument 

because it is self-auditing-the customer squawking about the supplier and the 

supplier annoying the customer. It is always two-dimensional. 

Condit: This started in the Navy, then? 

McNeil: It started in the Navy in a small way, then we expanded in the Navy, and 

then we got it into the Army and pretty well into the Air Force. But not quite. Air 

Force didn't want somebody to know quite what flying hours were costing, so they 

were slowest to get on with it. 

Condit: General Lemnitzer has told me to ask one more question, and that is, what 

should I have asked that I haven't asked? He told me I had missed out on the right 

question when I finished his interview; so now I always ask. 

McNeil: I happened to write that report, for Carl Vinson in the House, that tells the 

story ofthefinandal structure (No. 1064). I consider that very important. Each time I 

get a new batch of people around here, I go around and peddle it, not because I 

want to run things but just to show them what authority they do have. But some of 

them aren't using it. 

Now they have got some new wrinkles in Department of Defense budgeting 

and that is the DSARC outfit (Defense Systems A(XIuisition Review Council). The 

DSARC is nothing but an organization to go over weapons systems. Well, we used 
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to do that too, only we didn't do it formally. We used to get the ideas of the 

Research and Development Board, or go down to the old Munitions Board 

chairman or somebody. In fact, we used to do it in our shop, but we didn't do it all 

ourselves. For example, we had lunch with John B. Macauley down at the Research 

and Development Board to get ideas on missiles. 

I will tell you a story. We are having trouble with the Army and the Redstone 

Missile. Nobody objected to their going ahead and trying to develop a missile, but 

the Army wanted to really equip themselves with a short-range missile, which they 

called mobile. It wasn't mobile, it wasn't even moveable, because it took a truck 

train about 40 miles long to support four missiles. And after you got liquid oxygen, 

you couldn't charge and arm it for several hours. It only had a range of 150 miles, 

and it really was a bad thing. Things had gone on pretty fast, because meantime 

solid fuel had come along and was possible. 

I remember, Mr. Wilson and I went down to see Ike in Augusta, which we 

usually did a couple of times each year. At the end of that, I told Mr. Eisenhower that 

the Army had made a daim on this (Redstone), and I had stricken it out. I said, 

"When we get back, I am going to leave it out, but I will encourage the Secretary of 

the Army and Chief of Staff to come over and squawk and make an appeal. I want 

you to hear this story." He said, "Well, no, if that's the case, take it out." I said, 

"Okay, but I think they can do this: It really is possible to have a solid fuel missile that 

weighs 10,000 pounds, that can be broken into three parts, so that it is mobile and 

can be trucked, because solid fuel is ready to go any time." Ike said, "You can?" I 

said, "Yes, I am told it is possible." He said, "Well, do you want to put some money 
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on it?" I said, "Yes." "How much?" I said, "Oh, I guess $10-12 million would get it off 

to a good start this year." He said, "Okay." 

I came back and went down to see Secretary Brucker, Secretary of the Army. 

I said, "Mr. Brucker, I told you that Redstone wasn't in the cards: I just talked to the 

President about it, and he agrees to taking the money out of Redstone." He went 

through the "overhead," but he came down in a litHe while. And I said, "Listen, you 

have a great opportunity with this solid fuel missile, because it will have a range of 

250 miles, with a growth to probably 400 to 450, and it is truly mobile. Why don't 

you get out your book of Greek mythology and let's get a name for it? I have to tell 

George Mahon (House Appropriations Committee) tomorrow moming about what 

we are going to do, and that the Army is going to do this. I would like to get the 

Army name in there, standing in line, you know." Remember the missile we had for 

anti-aircraft-the Army Nike, the Hercules? He said, "We are not going to use 

Greek mythology any more." "Well, I said, "call it the Black Jack if you want to." 

That aftemoon we had a meeting with all the Secretaries and Chiefs to wrap 

up the bud get, and Brucker must not have thought I was there; I was sitting at the 

end of the table. Brucker had a little paunch, you know-patted his arms like this-

and he said, "Gentlemen, I have an important announcement to make. We have 

decided to discontinue the Redstone missile. We now have found we can develop 

a missile at 10,000 pounds, using solid fuel, with a range of .... There are people 

who want us to name it the Black Jack, but we are not going to do that. We have 

decided to name it the Pershing." And that's the Pershing missile we have got 

today. That's a true story. That's budgeting! Pall determined to be Unclassified 
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Condit: That unbelievable. 

McNeil: That's the way you make good decisions. When I made decisions I made 

them look as if they were made arbitrarily, but they were not really. That was after 

long discussion. 

Hoffman: What about the decision in 1957 to cut 100,000 men out of the Army's 

Fiscal Year 1958 budget. Was that your decision? 

McNeil: No, I don't recall that specifically. 

Hoffman: The FY 1958 bil was already in conference, and it was very late. That 

was the budget that took so long to get through. In fact, that was the year the legal 

authority to budget ran out, went past June 30th. 

(Note: This document represents McNeil's corrected version of the first 43 pages.) 
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(Administration) , 

Mr. WUtred J. McBeil 
Cannon Point Borth - #56 
25 Sutton Place ~outb 
New York, New york ~ 

Dear Mr. KcBe1l: 

Bnclosed 1s .. tr8llacr1pt of the interview with you on 
JUne 7 by Mrs. Condit 8Il4 Mr. Hoffman. It 1s a lenst'b1" one, 
but I hope that you will find the time to review and to make 
whatever ciJaDge. you deem. Deceaa&ry lAd desirable. We shall 
then ret;ype the transcript, incarporatiDg your changes, and 
send you a final cOW' tor your fUes. 

Mrs. Cond1 t and Mr. Botf'man. a:re most gratetul tor your 
hospitality lAd yaur help. Permit JIle to upres8 I\V apprecia­
tion on bebaU' of the OSD historical prosr-. Interviews of 
this ldnd. will be &ILDJlg the major sources used in the prepara­
tion of the History of OSD. 

Encl 
a/s 

Sincereq, 

f!::I:::_~ 
Historian, OSD 
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CONDIT: 

I. : , . I 

Interview with 
Mr; Wilfred McNeil 

June 7, 19r6 

Mr. MCNeil, I would like to capture on tape sane of the 

things you were saying at lunch. Would you repeat, please, your 

comments on Secretary Johnson's reSignation? 

MeDII,: In the sl.UIIIDer ot 1950, there was a buildup against Johnson 

in the press. The preM ItaMea...it. It came to a head on a Saturday. 

I got a call in the office, asking "" whether it was true that 

{jA- 1}e,It.uiwl -rtrlff1. 
Secretary Johnson was resigning. I called Steve Early and asked him, 

I 

and he said there was nothing to it. Later, that afternoon, he called 

~ back. There must be something to the rumor, he thought, because 

a.m., when Johnson arrived. He knew right away that something was 

~~-. ·w--k.d4 
wrong, because Steve Early never came in untU 10 or so. 'iarJ¥ a;iftn.lt 

/fM.n..~. M# ~. £~ ~ 4."""''''' ~. It !' 
g~ . .Jialmeea enn five m1uubea, told him »j.l,._. lef he had been fired. . 
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(I would have taken half a day.) Johnson said tha.t he wrul.d. go ~r 

to the White House to see the President and find out. When he came 

fJM. ~ Iv $" f..k.. 
back, he said -- ''Youtre right. I've been fired." ,.. 

Well, there were four of us sitting in the office talking 

things over -- Early, Marx Leva, Admiral Davis, and myself. There 

had been g~ssip about the possibility of Symington taking over as 

Jt -t-VU a.... a-tt.IfJlU. ~ ~ 
Secretary of Defense. He baA ail:M!llys wanted it. - We a.sked ourse~ve8, 

who would be best for the Department, who would ~ have' so m.uch 

respect for that he 'could never resist asking him. That haa. to be 

General Marshall. So Jolmson 1 s reSignation named General Marshall 

~t.A- ' 
as the man who should succeed~. ~ pe.1; it i&: tM ll!il'tJbeI, .to 

'k!.IlIRae emd "somehow" it was leaked to the press, That afternoon 

/kL~ 
Truman called MarsheJ.l. It worked. At lea.st, it. savea & ibi4;'t:il:e bit 

~ getting the best man for the Defense Department. 

CONDIT: Wba.t were Marshall's major contributions during the year 

be was Secretary of Defense? 

McNEIL: I guess you'd have to say, 

2 

his integrity. The Congress, 

-
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tr' •• fI."..Ll....... .. ~ 

CONDIT: How did the policy of limited mobilization tor the Korean 

, 
war come about' Did you ha.ve any part in the adoption of this policy? 

MeNEIL: ,There was t~t pressure for going ~ a tull mobiliza-

t10n basis. A lot of peopl.e wanted to ~ rush into a rapid 

~ltk'iee~~~ 
buildUP,[OW everything insight. 'But, in tact, ~ iid have a, l*; 

~~ a1~~ 
of iefte¥eT stocks available. L __ ~ ~ tvA.,.. ]l: 

II D~ 

Sometime~ around the first week of December 1950, I 

wrote a memorandum to the Secretary suggesting that we didn't need 

to go all out, that the best thing to do was to move u;p gradually. 6,..J:: 
tIA "vl.. ~J-~. 

We shoul.d get what we needed for Kore&. and be ready toio.ove ahead 

rapidly if we ha.d to, but not to :rush into more than was necessary. 

Later that day- t I asked Lovett if he had seen the memorandum. He 

said he bad, but didn't give me'the satisfaction of saying anything 

more about it -- at that moment. Later I found ~ that Marshall had 
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accepted the philosophy. 

***** 

CONDIT: What made you worry? Was it Symington I s suggestion for 

full mobilization that worried you? 

-1~ 
McNEIL: Well, Symington, but..- was also e. great deeJ. in the press 

too. The Air Force bad just gotten its divorce from the Army, and 

it took time for them to settl.e down. They were seizing every 

opportunity for rapid expansion in the Air Force,_ even beyond their 

capability to do it. 

CONDIT: Well, when did you know tha.t your memorandum was accepted'! 

McNEIL: Wben Marsball said, "I want to take th:1s to the Ca.binet 

this afternoon.1f 

CONDIT: That was tbe day you wrote it?· The day you gave it in? 

McNEIL: 

CONDIT: And then did Truman write an okay on it? 

McNEIL: I assume so. At least Marshall ~ testified to 

1----.:; 
I 

e,,.rCL P1' ,.. ~ 
11I:=in tbe",ll/iIOIIt; few days ~ks. 

1 
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COImrl!: And Marshall and Lovett sta.yed wi tb that right on througb. 

Now, while we are on that, what about the stretch out in 1952 for" 

the fiscal year 1953 budget! Were you·the author of that aJ.so? 
I ..fu:.' IJ ~";. c"' ~ .J..c,.;t fbl14 n u. • 

Well, I vot ~PQnsjbJ.e fIoc7.l-it, I was the action . ; 
. • ~ ~1II·hJA;-.! 

McNEIL: 

It,... ~~ I-MX '" ~ . I 

agent,...liMt :t;1letee we.B
1I 

agreement between Marshall, Lovet~ .. - ~$ , 

all the, ideas. 

You have to go back to the philosophy of the organization • . 
In follOWing Forrestal's philosophy of organization for the Depart-

ment of Defense, there needed to be 'a mechanism that would give ':fJfIIl~ I 

I some internal checks and balances. If' you had one group advocating 

something, you ought to have another group coldly analyzinlif it to see 

~ ,., ~rlM. 
whether you want to buy the whole ~ or not. Invaria.bly, you 

~ 
come out with different answers beoause you are on a c~1l1sion 

$ 
course on many policies. That's where a good solid citizen like 

A 

Marshall, Lovett, eta., and as I mentioned e~Uer a lot of the 

senior military, 1!;::tt";:'~: ~.~:~'-" ~~ 
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statements s~s in their speeches, tIlir.itkea yelt ge' xigbt down 

pros and cons, say" of an extremely rapid buildup, and show that 

that is not in the card,s, you will find that a great many.-le 

--~1.. 

will accept :~~haps their speeches may not sound like it. 

, My concept when I waS' named the first hscal. Qirector of 

~ l'lcts.t 
the Navy~-- Forrestal's concept really -- was that we should pull 

the programs and the money together and try to ~int out the 

weaknesses, etc., etc., so the seniors could make decisions. 

were accused or charged many times with making policy. Perhaps we 

, ~,~~ 
did, but we didn't ~ with the idea of making, policy. We did it 

wi th the idea of assembling the facts and figures and comirig out with 

a ba.l..a.nce sheet -- which frequently dictated policy. We got credit 

for doing it. But actually) what we had done was to deal., in the 

case of the Air Force later -1952 - with the fact that they were not making 

progress toward a l43-wing force; they were not even getting above 

90, and going over 120 was all you,could expect in the next couple 

6 
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of ;years. Therefore, they didn I t need as much advance authority 

as they might have thought a year or two before that. When you . 

make up a balance sheet and show that they don 1 t need that authority -

to a.chieve all they are physica14r capa.ble of) you can get a. policyt. 

1"011 "en lelb' decision. In fact, the decision shows for itself. 

CONDIT: This morning M.r. Lovett said something about one of the 

great contributions of his term. being your performance budgeting. 

I wonder J while we are on this subject, if you vquld just like to 

go ahead into question 4 and talk about performance budgeting? 

McNEIL: Yes, I will. 
. "],., est 

I ha:ve. aDa tMas betr>~ One of the 

typewritten questions you sent up here the day before was a.bout 

Wilson and his group. 

HOFFMAN: That is probably my question. 

McNEIL: Why he was so calm, so apparently calm and unperturbed 

about the strength of Russia, and so forth. Is that it? 

HOFFMAN: 

McNEIL: 

Yes" sir. 

,'J.f.1. fj) ~ .J4~ 
Well, it goes back to the baJ.a.nce sheet .... &.gain. If wrote 
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~ in 1959 which the Reader I S Digest wanted to publish, but 

I 
~b-Y ~ )~, L IA.,' pPAt fit .b"",-r-. /. 

I couldn't do it /l..because it was ;pect:t.y JState Department business.' ~ , 
- , 

",.l . ~"LH.L. '~ ~;'-:!:f : 
Pres Bush fin~ teek ~i~ed excerpts f'rom. it:. .. it' in ' 

Reader's Digest, about June or Jul.y of that year. * I ~hiS 

one copy but you can take it, if you d~n t t mind mimeographing it, 

1tJ ~J.4 
and you can send it back. I started this w~. Reverse the situation: 

II. 

Give us the Russian capability and give them ours. I wonder how 

we'd teel? I try to show that certain types of ~ircraf't located in 

MexiCO, Venezuela., etc. J are not too different from our having 

fighter type aircraft which could cury a big weapon in France l' 

Italy, . etc. If' you pretend you are planning for both Bides j I think 

~ 6to "' ,;. '1/IW frvu.J.. J., ~ )4~ ~ ~ 
it w&\'hW ]J!evelIb 7012 £':tom 'beldS Bi:tl3,. It might in same instances 

force a more rapid buildup; in other ca.ses, it might indica.te we are 

""" ~ iii -t-. ~ 
in pretty good sha.pe -- let I S dOn't go wild. But it ~ depends on 

adoption of' a basic philosophy. Me you going to ha.ve Def'ense on a 

feast or famine basis, as we did before World War II'l Or are . . ' 

• .*Prescatt Sheldon Bush, liTo Preserve Peace Let I s Show the Rus slana " 
How Strong We Are!" Reader's Digest, 75 (Jul.y 1959), pp. 25-30. 
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you goinS to build up to a reasonable strength and maint&1n it ' 

so long as there is 1:;rouble in the world? So you adopt 'that ''*te' 

th.:i:Re, 4HtIt"..gae policy. ,.,l-t answers a great many questions. 

CONDIT: Does performance budgeting a.llow you to do that? 

McNEI,L: 

CONDIT: When did it reaJ.ly come into effect, Mr. McNeil'l 

McNEIL: Well, the act which authorized it' was passed in September 

1M-
1949. ;Performance budgetingrl QQIl'* eare tee ~ about the "1!ame 

i 
I 
I' 
I 

ot;: it • 
ib,..t;. Ij, ~h_~ 

ACtus"iY, tu bWilgei!ieg system. covers I. l'tdIIitJex ef ~gs. ' 

.Jt... liM ~~ 
It is not like an administrative budget for the Department of 

,( 

Commerce or Labor, where you &re just budgeting for sa..l.aries, rents, 

<)tt.. ~ ~~, ~ ~1'-~lf..u.,L 
~~ ...... J~ .~"l ~t·~('f 

paper, and S~"WIfi!ii 1 wU,Diide t1sc~tororTe av~ 

~-.I~~ 
I wanted to get,the basfc ~ organizatio~ so organi~ed that it 

• It 
As a customer, he 'Would squa.wk at the price or the quality of 
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work. While you cquld have somebody go out and make an examination 

t jWC.. '- ~1-1~"..,..;r" , 
or ~ng1neer produce a study, it would never be as effective as to . r~ .. 

C~) 
have the customer riding herd on the Shi~ing the customer 

ride herd on the printing plant as to quality and numbers and price. 

~at type of thinking gave birth to a part of Title IV of the 

Amendments ~o the National Security Act, which were passed in 

Ct 1949. Tbat is really part of the budgeting process, although· 

som~s people wouldn't recognize it as such. Title IV provides 
• • r ~....;... ~t--. 

t1(1~~I,,("'~ 
for industrial or conmercial-type actlvities, which means it is . . 

~ ,.",,; ~ '- (/Ifl-' 

o~ working caPit~ Not adndnis LI aM";e 1of:pe acU,:;ities wMr8 you just 

hue al) otfi ce nml)1of§; "' where YQU us amufactwi1'l8, doing 

~~J' w9J'k, etc., etc. First, we got authority from Congrei3s to 

take money which had lapsed and to bring it back to life to become 

" , the working capi taJ. of these corporate enterprises. To establish 

the working capi taJ. didn' t cause any expenditures as far as the 

public was concerned, but it gave a memorandum figure aga.1nst which 

I () 
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you could write checks until you could collect' from. the' customer. 

The f~rst industrial :fund actiVity started was in the' 

'~~ 
Pentagon basement, the printing plant.-~who got printing 

II 

done in the Pentagon was charged for it. The printing plant tHIIIi ~. 

not qetermine the numbers of copi'es they could have 1!I!r 'Afty:&hing 

t.;.J. 
~, but, it did charge them. the cost of the operation. Immediately, 

A ' 
everybody who wanted printing done bad to take a look and see if 

- ""~~, 
his awn budget could support it. It~. ~alll or ttte=:'!targe 

b-daet. Up to then you had a budget for printing but everybody 

reached in on the shelf 'and took out what they pleased without 

accountability. 

The first large organization established under ~he 

industria.1 :fund was, the Military Sea Transporta.tion Service, which we 

started out with, I think, abou.t $85 million working capital. 

CONDI'J.I: Was that MSTS or MNrS? 

McNEIL: MaTS. Now comes the most important part. The Army) 

ri~t after the divorce of the Air Force, wanted to do the 
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housekeeping for the Air Force, wanted to keep aJ.l:tJy-~~d. 

But the Navy didn I t want to do any housekeeping for anybody else 

because they felt that any dollar that went into housekeeping meant -

,~ 

i· 

! 
! 

~~t-.v~~~ 
, I 

t~. one leqS~tr.C1fI'V' one Jeu Iii' "NM.ng. Some 

mechanism such as corporate organization or a working-capital 

operation, where everybody paid for what they used, was the only 

w~ you could get single service performance, get So single service 

()""~ [If 
to do housekeeping for eillifil5l1sdj 1118. 

The 'minute the Navy knew they would get reimbursed on 

a tariff basis for,aU the work. they did for the AI:rtJ::r, Navy, Air 

Force, Ma.:rines, state Department ~ they gladly would run MaTS. 

Meantime, Air Force • .A:rr:rri", and everybody wa.s critical of MaTS 

because it charged too much. That's exactly the kind of atmosphere 

we wanted to create, -- where every shipper was squa.wking about the 

effect than So gold-embossed report from a management engineer. 

12 
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Then instead of budgeting for' 200 ships to operate and steam 

anywhere anybody wanted, you budgeted for the service you wanted 

rendered -- for moving x tons of material. fr01ll. San Francisco;" 

"Korea, or for carrying so ms.ny peop~e. If- yeu ft_ Ii f'ew extra. 

You had 

Before the MaTS was started, a.nmrunition ships used to 

be idle in San Francisco harbor for an avere.ge of 50 days as I 

reca.l.1 it. Once Mam got gOing, .i/ so managed :I;t th~t the avere.ge 

la.yover time was ~eQs than four ds.ys. JW!I'1t \:Iecan!@! a ctil:sRel bad 

it; 

He had previously 

~~ 
more careful a.bout li~schedu1ed. d 

13 
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~ ...... ____ .:.,.:: •• ::; .. :: .. :tt~ 't '".,. ~L __ , 

CONDIT: How far did you carry this forward during Lovett' s 

time? 

McNEIL: MaTS was started'before Lovett. But it was a continuous 

proc~ss. I was lucky, because every boss I hed supported me, and 

Lovett supported me beaut1:t'u.lly. I brought a copy along of the 

COIIII1ttee Report (No. 1064, 8lat Cong., 1st Sess.) wbich -- there 

a.:ren t t many copies around any more -- tells the rea.sons for some ' 

of these things. 

N~ ~other type of ?perat10n, certainly related to . 
tJ, n:v. ~~~;." I- <t ., ! ." .... ""~. a.,.Jko!.CoJ-

performance budgeting, pme tJPQ et .• hkg. When! went out to 

Bikini for the first A-b~ shot, I couldn't help but see'~ I 

«.r~,,*,~ 
had known it before t .... bui{Pi'oVe<l it .- that Ar1113, Navy, Air, 

practically every activity of' Government, had, some experiment or 

something going on out in Bikini. Mmiral William H. P. Blandy 

had '189 pots of' money that he used to operate Bikitti, 189 different 

allotments. That I s a hell of eo way to run eo railroad! So I wanted 

14 
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~ legislation, which I sot from Congress, which made it 

When 

If 

Admiral Blandy's successor went out to Bikini, he had one pot of 

" mone,y to operate the experiment. We got a.uthority from Congress 

~.we set haQ& home to charge each one of the 189 according to 

1r~ft,."J 
the ~QKjmBte cost of each activity. 

That t S important, because GAO could not look behind 

• 
the distribution. If we spent $10 million, we ~i8tr1buted $10 

million in costs. We couldn't distribute $11 million. Because 

of the competition between entities of the Government, you ~ 

'6rr- iJ. ~~t'hJM .~~ip...;..r ~,.M..M~ ¥~"'''L 
coul.dn'~",Charge one any more t.~~ ~r. I You had to prove 

what you were <_&ina/- you d1dn't ha"" to get down add worry 

~ 
about the odd cents. This management fund really made so mnch ... 

~ sense. Well, take a bus line running around San Francisco 8~ ~-r .. 

~r. If you had only one bus line Serving, Navy wasn' t going 

to do it, Army wasn't going to, Air Force wasn't going to. But 

you could have one running under a management fund, picking up all 

l5 
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the school kids or workers for some activity, and you could 

,distribute the cost on the basis of head count at the end of the 

month. That might be just an example. Any reasonabie solution. 

But again, it ties into trying to put ,a, price tag on the serVices 

rendered or the material purchased. "Performance budgeting" was 

in a sen~e what Hoover labeled i t --1Jfi1I--1Jl~"TmC-,.ik8l.l"'~ 
'" 

CctmIT: Can I go back to Secretary Johnson for just a moment 

and my first question. I have seen 'What you have told Dr. 

Goldberg before about Secretary Jobnson and I was very glad'to see 

that assessment. I think it is a more rational assessment of tbe 

Secretary than is the usual case, because be was certainly subject 

to the press buildup against him. But how WQuld you assess our 

military posture at the start of the Korean war on JUne 25, 1950, 

and to what forces would you attribute that PQsture? 

'McNEIL: Well, I think you bave to'S? back to the directiQns that, 

Truman gave Johnson. That t S been one of the things that the· press 

~,+, .. , 
an.'d the public neve:tCr~d about Johnson's efforts to cut back. 

16 
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He was in sympath;r with it" but he did not do it on his ON'n~1 

,. ~, 
On July fifth, shortly atter Johnson ca.ne&boa.rd -- Frank Pace was . 

Director of the Budget -. Truman had the Secretaries and the , Chiefs ' 

()tt ~ ~ ~ ;;t; ~~/?~ oJ-
o~ the White House. Johnson, Early, and I were there, in 

~~~) 
addition tD~Ch1efs. Truman laid out how he wanted expenditures 

~~ 
controll~d, expenditures Jl1Ilirof previOUS,; budgets controlled; _ 

te. put a limit on new obligational a.uthority in the new budget, 

a.s I recall $13 bi~on, of which half a. billion was for stock-

piling and critical materials. Not a. solitary Secretary or Chief 

~ 
made a complaint. I g,g1¥3:aii:Re1il .. :b:(.t, because oJ: a:ioti a couple of 

things weren't possible. After quite a little argument, Truman 

said, "Well" you work it out with Frank Pace. II I did, th&t 

afternoon, at lea.st ta.1d.ng the stockpiling out, ~ still Wt 

II . ..;....., , /1~; 
~'the budget about $13 billion. ~o meet that figure re~red a lot 

" 
of cutbacks. This was directed by Truman. 

CONDIT: This was on fiscal year 1950 or 19511 

rc 

I , 
t 
I 
\ 

t 

i I 
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CONDIT: July 19501 On both bupgets? • • • • Both. 

Mcm:IL: NO, July'1949. I am sorry, ~ 1949- ~t ri.s 

W 
a pretty s~arp cutback, ~~so he gave an expenditure limitation. 

, s crw" ' 
The Navy jUll\.ped in right awa.y and made t e ... adjustment awtully fast. 

14~~en you cut back, if you cut back quickly, the result is 

~. _ if you let it dro.g OIle-two-three-four-five months 
I 

~tA~""'-' , 
and then chang~ ~ for the last two or three months of a year, it 

will ,virtuallY wreck you. Navy did it very prompt1J, but ~ 

f 
didn I t remodel their progr~ for £,i ve or six months,. ~ss. ~ .. 
~ ().~~tU..c. ~.4'.'llb""""~,~ 
CONDIT: You said the~avy promptly cut back on the 1950 budget? 

McNEIL: Yes, so they absorbed their -- I hate to s.ay "share" 

their target. They did that' in less ,than 60 days, '\! ::::g:u:SIs. We 

had 10 m.onths to absorb the cutback. The ArlJf(f took m.onths before 

they got their rework of their plans, and it hurt the AnrJ:y very 

badly. 

CONDIT: General Lemnitzer is very bitter toward Secretary Johnson 

about the A:rmy cutback. 
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McNEIL: They were, but 'part of it was their own fa.ul t. It 

is like the New York City situation now. If you h&ve trouble, 

you had better get in and fix it quickly; then the cutback 

doesn't have to be as sharp and as difficult to save the same 

a.m.ou.n:t of money. 

CClIDIT: Well now, the budget for FY 1951 'Was set s.t $13.0 

billion by Truman,' if I remember cOl"l'ectly. 

McNEIL: $13, ma.ybe s. little more. Frank. Pac~ fie Director of 

the Budget. 

COHDIT: When the war came in June 1950) the country 'blamed 

Secretary Johnson for the cutbacks. Now, I understood that perhs.ps 

it was his style of cu.tting back, tb8.t he was very flamboyant 

about it. Is that true? 

McNEIL: This is quite true. I said it 1n a different way; I 

said the public acceptance. 

·COM>IT: That 'a true. Public acceptance was n11. wasn't it? 

.... 
I am sure ne s~athized with Truman, so he didn't 

19 
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object too much. But TrUman was the one who directed the cutbacks. 

cormlT: Well now J when Johnson testified before Congress, he 

-
said something to the effect that the country was in better shape to 

moye aheed, to mobilize. It wasn't in a be~ter readiness posture, 
.... 

. , 

but ·1 t was in better preparation to mobilize than it had been for 
, ". 

years. Would you agree w~ th that'! 

McNEIL: Well, it certainly was true compared with the times 

before World 'War I or II. 

CONDIT: What ab,out fran 1946 onY 

...... 
McNEIL: No, I'wouldn't think so. 

CONDIT: We were less prepared in 1950 than we were in 1948? 

McNEIL: Not in degree, but in numbers, yes. There had' been a 

pretty sharp cutback in numqers since 1948. 

CONDIT: So you really wouldn t t buy Johnson I s statement to Oongress? 

6vt1.o..Li 
McNEIL: No. But:'''''''r'eJ., you were in pretty good shape froDl 

the standpoint of materiel because of what was left over from WorJ.d 

War II. .A$ far as navy ships were concerned, there were .ant "Ol~ 

20 
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ye.a:r peRod. ~. ...re praet:lc~ e.ll new. Ships Wfte good . 

for 20 to 25 years ad! had only been at sea for five or ten years, . 
f\ 

so that you were in better'shape than you were before World War I!. 

~"h 
You ,didntt have to get certain kinds of artille~ Army 

was pretty we~ as far as numbers~oncerned. ~u.. AI . 

CONDIT: 

economy? 

McNEIL: 

To what do you attribute Truman I s passion for 

Well, I think there were a. lot of people who agreed on 

t 
a be.la.ncedibudget, a.nd he didn't tbink, as Forrestal did, that we 

were still 1n trouble in the world. 

CONDIT: Did you 'feel that the services were able to use the 

money ef:f'icient~ after the war started? 

McNEIL: To a degree; that is all relative. ,r don't think they 

bought many things they didn't need. I think that all of us 

probably went along w1th more money for the Air Force than they 

could properly use in 1952 and 1953. 

21 
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gives a. little explanation of it. '!he Air Force was heading for 

a. 143-w::lng air force at the time, which we' thou8ht was a little. 

strong. Jm.yway, it was a target and :we knew that we wouldn't 

reach it for two or three or four years. But when we got along 

into 1953 they had only gotten to a point wnere they had a force 

of 93 wings, same of those still not in readiness condition. The 

interim goal was set at 120 wings, which was a cutback. That, 

~lus the fact that they hadntt got as far in 1952 and 1953 as was 

originally planned, meant that they had excess obligational 

authority or buying power. That was the reason for the cutback 

in 1953. 

HOFFMAN: I would like to pursue that. That budget was the one 

you designed originally. W'hy was the excess author1 ty allowed to 

remain in there in 19521 

McN.lIL: Well, 

any: money, if' you have ,/I¥ it under control. And this was pretty 

well under control. This was a decision under Tl'1JlIIl1m, once the 

22 
/ 
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Korean war started, not to take any action to remove the excess. 

The excess d.eveloped sradu.aJ.ly) slowly, because the Air Force Was 0 

certain they were going to have 120 wings right quick. They were 

certa:1..n that Boeing, etc., etc., were going to come through a. 

little faster than they did with the design. This indicated a.ny 

number of facets of the Air Force operation; they just didn't get 

organized quickly. The Chiefs, the Secretary of Defense, and men 

of my own rank were influenced a hit, thought tpey would get 

, 
along a. little faster. The Air Force was a. new outfit, and they 

didn't have the necessary internal logistics support. l~ ai's't 

rettt::'ty '1!'Jii.t:»t. The old Signal Corps of the A;rTfJy used to .do their 

buying for tiiem ~ 4:::f~) remember'? 1 think we probably 

all thought the Air Force was more competent to get things done 

than ~hey really were. 

HOFFMAN: You were the author of the precise figure that :was put 

in between the revision ofoFY 1954 budget and the initial 1954 

budget? 

23 
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MC,NEn: Db, I OIl sure, bnt it ..... n.t." I '. & . 

.,...~ figure. It was __ & r •• uJ.tt& current look, rather than 

, ,l _ 1#"'" 
it was trying to malte ,a Ji;;fA figure. After that, we, got to the 

6-~~ Kw~ ~~ 
point where we had budgei!'s'. They were based on target figu:r:es, 

... II I 

yes. :aut not at that time. lAo at'ft.er WeM8 j .fe ll.ai Be illS true t::1:::ens 

,fr'I'D Ike that ;vvtl ~ to ge'5' iii R'lrMer at ael:l:a.rs. 

HOFFMAN: Well, each yeu J in the office papers of the 

Comptroller's office, I have came across a figure that would came 

down from the NBC, sometime in November usue.l.ly. A precise, 

allOW'abl.e defense spending figure. Now, I am wondering Who was 

the author of that1 Were you tbe author, tbe Bureau of the Budget, 

Secretary Humphrey? 
\ 

McNEIL: 

them.. I4t; '~t was after the fact) because actue.l1y most of the 

work had been done before those figures were gotten together. 

el,) 
It d1stl.r.bed me very much tha.t they d:o planning in this order. 

\ . 

·1 

I 
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w,Ol.ll.&- "*'11:1 .6 :fix sQ!!!etJd:ag....;ilaii fb.e year in which you 'were gOing 

to operate was 18 months still'in the future. That's the reason 
\ 

r 

I got ,the Director of the Bureau of the Budget -to assign his 

( , 
t 

budget people -to the Department of Defense. You knew that happened, 

didn't you! It was the only Department in the Government ,to do 

that. We sold the President on the idea of &:lloca.ting 30 or 40 

people from the Bureau of the BUdget to the Departmel';lt of Defense. ~ 
I~t:","ri(;.;; le:c"v ~ ~ t..-( Iku-~ /. ~P-

, They, were afraid they would be seduced .~ tMA, ~ oO'\iI;Ie, but 

we rea.ssured them that they would have "keys to the sa.f'e" and 

.",4t, ~~~~., ~ 
know whether we were trying to ~u. 01 i16t. _ "oipa that, 

Ci;.4~ 
- we were abl. Rot t9 I~~t 8 budsat ifl September A.co~g to 

the law, you know, the budget is supposed to be submitted in -, 
f3,.,~Jla.JrI'1S 

September. i~e to submit 8. budget until December. 

That was fIIIBcI:v done in order to shorten the interval between the 

time you got your authority and the time you used it.. If you 

could set it out of Congress on time in early spring and~ 

final planning had been done in November /December, that meant a 

25 
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snortfi'-.itime "_ . . ~ ~ ~ . ~ ffL~ I /} .,A/'v 
, 
CONDIT: Mr. Lovett has wr1 tten more than once that the budget,' 

process vas one of the major mea:nS" by which the Secretary of 

Defense could control. the OSD. How aces that work! 

McNEIL: 
J, 

It ... very simple. The Secretary of Defense'or 

~ 
Secret~ of a Service can sign dtseutty till H-- freezes over, 

a:nd not much will happen. But 1:! he ,,1m s to shut off the 

fa.ucet,ed:. is a sure wa.:y to stop something; or if he furnishes 

money, it is a sure way to hel!) it along. 

CONDI'r: How ~ch authority does the Se~Det' have to stop the 

money! 

McNEIL: Jl-virtus:uy complete. ~A Mare then they ever exercisetJ. 

"(.. 1 ~ I 

CONDIT: He can just tell them not to use it! 

McNEI~: Sure. Don't allocate it. Now they are getting to a 

. - • ' • J " " Iwii.""" 
point'in Congress, of course, where Congress is ~ng the 

apportionment process. The President doesn't have as much 

authority under the apportionment process as he used to have. 

26 
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CONDI~: I oan see the President, but I didn't realize that, 

in addition to the Pres ident, the SeeDer could e.pportion. 'fha.t • s . 

whe.t I didn't know. 

McNEII,: ~. I III tell you a little story. Shortly after 

the, Unifica.tion Act was pa.ssed, the Air Force operated as if' 

everything "'they did was secret, top sec~~t. 1hey had a lot of run 

~'f44 ~~1~,~z.~,)(.~· 
puW JJ& liI~mps :em. When they were up betore the House Committee 

on Appropriations in 1950 or thereabouts, Cong:r.:easman Harry 

Sheppar~ wa.s trying to get them to put on the record what they 

did out a.t San Bernardino on the Safety Board. 'fbey said they 

~ ) 
couldn't tell him because it was classified. This went on for 

about an hour. Meantime, one of the clerks of the comittee 

call.ed me and said, "You got troubles up here. The Air Force is 

in trouble with Taber and Cannon and the committee and they won't 

talk." I said" "Okay, I'll come u.pi" U' I IIE!!~ ttp. J'USt as I 

~ . 
w.,..n John Taber -- did you ever hear of him"? --

CCJliIDIT: No. 
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McNEIL: He was the senior Republican on the committee. He 

squirmed out af bis chair and he said, "Gentlemen, you may be ' 

ri6ht. Maybe this committee doesn't' have an.; authority to look ~j. 

interested only 1n those things that take money, and if' this 

t~s no money we have no interest. II The next day there was a 

truck backed up under the steps of the" Cap! tol and about three 

tons of reports on San. Bernardino were de11ver~d to the committee! 

That is a true story. 

CONDIT: Can the SeeDef on his own say the .Air Force won't get 

money that the Congress ba~ appropr1at~d? ~'. ~ ~ ~ 
'. d-~r~~..a., 

McNEIL: ",A.JI i~ used to do it. We used to do it c9ll,;~. 
~ '~ 

CONDITt You did it for him? 

McNEIL: Sure. 

CONDI'l!: I wish I had an example. 

McNEIL: 

his knowJ.edge. He may have not known tne exact figure. .Qb.....oftQ, 
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CONDIT: I see. 

McNEIL: Forrestal understood that~ 

CONDIT: In wartime it is harder to exercise that, isn't it? 

McNEIL: In the first place, no See~tary would be 

~'" . 
irresponsible, he wouldntt cut fi:, Off.just. for the :run of it. 

CONDI'l': No, he would realize he had a possible fight on his 

hands. 

McNEIL: Sure. 

ConDIT: HOW' did wartime affect that, didn r t that change the 

relative power position of the Secretary and the Services? 

War changed the amounts more than the procedure. 

CONDI'.C: He would have to cut off more before he would have any 

power? 

MeRElL: Yes. For example, consider an allocation to the Air 

Force and the Bureau of Aer9ne.utics. You might aJ.loc8.te 80 percent 

and withhold 20 percent., until they got 8. flying-hour program 
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'~ 
w.bicb ¥.Q\l wEN::W: 'I!I'Iry. Their 'original flying program w4i'lW.d have 
'~ 

I, I ..J-~ Q,;) 
been 50 hours per pilot per month, and maybe ~PU taCMght 35 

hdUrs was just a.bout &11 they were golng to have this yee:r frOm 

the standpoint of the availability of aircraft and the necessity 

~ie!Uta 8iIIII!MIlt. This apportionment process is really , 

quite & powerful process. Forrestal understood the need and use 

I' ~ 1/'f,:'1'+ ~ 
of it,"'Wilson did too, &:lIe fi1o'¥ett tHe"'" well. I don't think 

~~~ ,vfs ~.,.. ti~.'i~~,{""J.-ho1 
some of the others quite r.~s84 Whac it meant. 

HOFFMAN: You rea.lly used tha.t apportionment process quite 

vigorously in the overrun problettlS associated with the F'I 1957 

and 1958 budgets. In fact, looking through the period f!rom. early 

1957 onward, you began to have trouble with Brundage. He cut 

below, the various apportionment figures you wanted, which were 

pretty much austere figure~ to begin with. 

McNEIL: 

CONDr.£: Where does NBC 68 fit into the 'Korean war years? How 
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far did we try to implement NBC 68 in add1 tion to fighting the 

Korean war? 

McNEIL: Well, I am. a little fuzzy on that, on the exact i~~c.,.t 
1-: 

~ of that now. NBC 68 was kind of a target, not necessarily 
I 

d.-t f.t. t1 t t eta- IZ. ~ (....::r-
something we were going to achiev It was kind of s9JMtbiDg we 

., ~Mv'~-~ 
wsnted to get to at the end of the road _":;;_ there ~ 

were a ~ot of detours getting there. I 

, 
CONDIT: That ~presented a new look' at the ~ssible threat of 

Russia to the United States $nd our comparative position? 

McNEIL: The big change in strategio concept, I guess you would 

call it, was in 1953, when Eisenhower named the "good new Chiefs,1t 

for four or five days, with the idea of' their Coming back with ~ 

'-' 
possib~ ~eb.ange in concept, 

r.,viA:t ~ tlAt~ ~ /JL«.­
hopefully gil QRe 'tHdflg. It didn't 

~rJrt.,~ 1.. ~~ 
quite come out that way, but the net result~~t was to ask, 

u . It 
what was the DlOst seriaus threat we have? That woul.d be in the 
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A-1biSiiiP:'b~. So there was an increasing empl:la.sis on the 
Ii ti <{'t-f,ft-d,: rfvu:t., 

strategic Air CCl1III&Tld and Air Defens.e. Increased empha.sis on' 

those, and lesser ~has1s on ground support operations. This 

was primarily for the reason that you probably weren't going to 

fir.l.04- ~ ~ ~ ooJ 
ma:J.nta.:1rl f'n Europe and elsewhere 8iINlmd tb.e ~ a three- , 

m11lion.-~ a.rmy, bu~ ;ou would put a h1gh ~ on air I ~ 
, .do, ~ ~ ~ ~/Ufa..e...vt; 

j", ~ /-d-r ' 
eIf_ to save yourself from "disaster." Rltd.adq ~th ' 
, yf.J t.~~ , 

/;tlAi, IInground forces, wileR 1fOU d;1.d sat iate aoUem, you probabl:y would 
-~ 

~~------ . 

have more time to develop and work Mi wt} as t~ .... suppJ.y , umbers 1/ 

training, and so forth. That was probably, the biggee.t change 
-
o+~. 

under Ike -- when Ike asked for a newAconcept. 
. . 

'~/:.~-.t1 pL.~ 
Now, Radford knew what that meant Fe.t .. 1rall. So 

. ,,~ 

, ¢'If-~i 
did the Air Force. ~ never ~te understood wbat that~antJ 

~$" 

I. remember that General. Ridgway came up one time with ~ ;:f 
. ~ 

his staff, quite provoked about our action on the Armyl I said, 

.i 

J 
I 

. , 

-h'1t.t ~ 1~ .. 
IIldsten, you were there when we took the Chiefs.JiM!r and explained I 

I .• d JIL.(uJ~ ~~ .-t1" ~ to IlaI." ow...., ~ got back frOlll the Sequoia, ~took them /;i1! 
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~e. ~"rk.e.~ three hours questioning them. and talking 

., 

a.bout it. Ridgway Nna..l.ly said, "I thought that was just an 

10 ~ r;i:.J ~c.apr. S1.ru-~~ ~.J~'7~ _~ 
exercise. I "9~OOO trucks QJI 1I'000tMng IJM.I..t 81 :AHt¥ b~...:n.g, .7~ 

~ " r as :;p~t, of this new phil.osophy tbat Ike and Defense agreed on." 

P1J.r .. . cJ.,.-~ ~ ~ y-i --_/ 
H&'d il981i/1Q on 1'6 tge, lie h:e8. ligoeg a.. .. i'.r./We.were merely 

'\ 
carrying out the agreement w'hiab bad been developed by the Chief's 

and approved by the President about Jul.y 1953. (It niight have 

been JUne .. ) While the paper itself didntt sB.Y:. so m.any airplane-s, 

so many troops, a.nd. so. forth, there was a phil.osophy that somebody 

had to interpret into numbers. We did tha.t, and we caught hell 

~~ ~d~ 
for a while. ~ was the philosophy that JiMLS agreed upon. 

CONDIT: . Well, that was the problem. of postwar cutting back • 

. What were your greatest problems during the Korean war? 

McNEIL: Well, I recall one bu.dget, I forget which year it wa.s, 

that was submitted for $104-106 ~llion. It went to Congre:;ls in 

~.r~, ~ .. ~ ~tA. * 
l~e. It. W "'~~eop1e thought that wa.sf\8. very silly ope~8.tion, I 
~ 1.9 ~ ~ ~ *ir t<" t' ......... fL4*- Ttfii' ~ ~ 

b)l.t negpJe wen 8'~. y.gu JliREJIIC., I never worried too :much about ,fv , 
~ 
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d(t; ! al.ways thought the smart thing for Defense to do (and still ' 

think so) was to list everythins they might need. ~en go doWn , . 
r 

t , I .,.....)f.,- ~ ~ ~ ~ 
and start culling out."Vf.U ~ 4I-It ...c~. 
rt4~~~~j -~, j,t is just this simple: When the war was over 

,.., 
I had .. l.941 Oldsmobil.e. It had a hole in the floor mat where 

my heel: rested from the accel.erator, the, h'wnper was bent)) and so 

forth and so on. I went out one Sunday morning and made a list 

of a.J.J. the things that darn thins needed, and it would cost about 

$500. I wasn I t going to spend that much on an old car, so I came 

out with a $103 total. bill and drove it for two years more. Well, 

the tooth was off the low gear but I never used the low gear 

anyway, I alw.ya used second, so I didn't have to fix tha.t. I 

straightened the bumper. I used mastic for lIl'¥ rubber mat. So 

CONDIT: You sound like Ron and me. 

HOFFMAN: ± have a. car with a hol.e in the muf'f'l.er right now. 

McNEIL: No, but I recall a lesson I learned right at the end 
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of the war (1945). Admiral George F. Hussey J Jr. W!3-8 Chief of 

the Bureau of Ordnance. At that time the proximity fuse was 

one of the great new ideas, and it re~ was a very illq)ortant 

thing. But there was still development work to do on it, 

although it had been used in the fleet for a couple of years. 
\ 

At that time, to live up to the President's limited spending and 

so forth, we had Ufled the a:lloce.ted target; and the Bureau of 

Ordnance didn't have a single nickel for the ~ther development 

of the t'uze. Well, we got tha.t fixed. But if he had been 

"pel"lllitted" to list everything he thought he needed, that would 

have been on the list. As I say, we ca.ught it, a.nd there wa.s 

money in the budget for it, and development continued. But 

som.ew'here up through that pyramid structure, it had dropped out. 

CONDIT: Thank you very much, Mr. Secretary. Tha.t is the end 

of my list of questions and I will defer to Ron Hottman now. 

McNEIL: One more thing, about your performance budgeting. The 

Army in aJ.l its history never. had its common leased property tinder 
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f1nanc1&1. control. Starting back at the time of the Spe.n1.sh-

American War, the NavY had a small fund of about $200 thousand 

for "papers and pencils I II which they then charged to the user. 

During World War I that got to be a pretty big Sears-and-

Roebu~k' type of operation, where stuff on the shelf was charged 

to the, fleet or whoever used it. 

We got'authority in Title IV of the National Secur~ty 

, 
Act to require that all prOperty be kept undef m0ney control 

and that common use property be kept in what is known as stock 

funds. One reason for the name is that some people in Defense I 

in Navy in particular, knew what that meant. It meant that all 

common use supplies, like paint and so forth, would be Under 

control of the "Sears, Roebuck Corporation" in each Service. 

For anything taken off the shelf, or if Navy got some stuff out 

of an Army warehouse, the user had to pay. It was charged to 

that project I s operation for that year. See whAt I mean by the 

so-called performance budgeting! We were trying to get everything 

36 
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charged to the user and for the pUrpose it was used. We were 

trying to get such efficiency into the place tha.t 8. guy at 

Bollill8 Field who wanted to build something or rep&ir something 

could draw 2,OOO,feet of lumber and be charged for ,it. Then if 

he used on+;y 1,000 feet and he took the other 1,000 feet back 

and pu~ it in the store, he would get credit for that. You no 

longer would ba.ve stuff sitting around unused, because you 

would get credit for it if you took it back tQ the store. All 

this without any supervision and without any argument because it 

is self-auditing -- the customer squawking about the supplier 

and the supplier annoying the customer. It is ahrays two-

dimensiona.l. 

CONDIT: this started in the Navy, then "1 

McNEIL: It started in the Navy in 8. small. way, then we 

expanded in the Navy, and then we got it into the Army and pretty 

well into the Air F9rce. BUt not quite. ,Air F0rce didntt want 

aom.~body to know quite what flying hours we:.re costing, so they 
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were the slowest to get on witb it. 

CONDIT: General-Lemnitzer bas told me to ask. one more 

question) and that is, what should I have asked that I haven't 

asked? He told me I had missed out Qn the right question when 

I -finished his interview; so now I always ask. 

McNEIL: I happened to write that report~ for Carl Vinson in 

the House, that tells the story of the financial structure 

(No. 1064). I consider that very important •. Each time I get 

a new ba.tch of people around here, I go around and peddle it, 

not beca.use I want to run things but just to show them what 

authority they do have. But some of them aren't using it. 

Now they have got some new wrinkles_in Department of 

Defense budgeting and that is the DSARC outfit (Defense Systems 

-Acquisition Review Council). ':Che DSARC 1& nothing but an 

organization to go over wea.pons systems. Well, we used to do 

tha.t too, only we didn It do it for.ma.lly. We used to get the 

ideas of the Research a.nd Development Board) or go down to the 
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old MunitiOns Board chairman or somebody. In tact, we used to 

do it in our shop, but we didn It do it all ourselves. For 

example, we had lunch with John ·B. Macauley down at the Research 

and Development Board to get ideas on missiles. 

I will tell you a story. We were having trouble with 

the A:rr1J;y and the Redstone Missile. Nobody objected to their 

going ahead and trying to develop a missile, but the Army wanted 

·to really equip themselves with a short rang~missile which they 

called mobile. It wasn f t mobile, it wa.sn I t even, movea.ble, 

bece:W!.e it took. 8, truck. train about 40 miles long to support 

tour miSSiles •. And atter you got liquid oxygen, you' couldn't-

charge and arm. it for several hours. It only had a rarige of 150 

miles, and it really wa.s a bad thing. Things had gone on pretty 

fast, because meantime selid fuel had aome along and was possible. 

I remember, Mr. Wilson and I went down to see Ike in 

AugUsta., wbich we usua.ll:y did a couple of times ea.ch year. At 

the end of that, I told Mr. Eisenhower that the ArIIr.I had made a 
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olaim on this (Redstone), &ntt I had strioken'it out. I sa1d J 

''When we get back, I am. going to lea.ve it out J but I will 

encourage the Secretary of the ~ and Chief of Staff to 

come over and squawk and make an appeal. I want you to hear 

tbis story." He said, "Well, no, it that I s the ca.&e" take it 

out. If , I said, II Okay, but I think they can do this: It rettl.ly 

is possible to have a solid fuel missile that we1ghs 10,000 

pounds, that can be broken into thX'ee parts, .so that it is 

mobile and. can be trucked, because solld fuel is ready to go 

a:ay time. tI Ike said, "You can?" I said, "Yes, I am. tOld it 

is possible. II He said, "Well, do you want to put some money 

on it?1! I said, "Yes. n "HOW' much'll! I said, "Oh, I gUess 

$10-12 million would get it off to a good start this year. fI 

He said, II Okay. " 

I came back and went down to see Secretary Brucker, 

Secretary of the A.rmy'. I said, "Mr. Brucker, I told you that 

Redstone wasn I t in the cards: , I just talked to the President 
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about it, and he agrees to taking the money out of Redstone." 

He went through the II overhead. , tI but he came down in a. little 

While. And I sa.id, "Listen, you have a great opportunity with 

this solid fuel missile, because it will have a range of 250 

miles, with a growth to probably 400 to 450, and it is truly 

mobile. Why don't you get out your book of Greek mythology and 

~et's get a name for it? I have to tell George Mahon (House 

Appropriations Committee) tomorrow morning a~out what we are 

going to do, and that the Army is going to do this. I would 

like to get the Army name in there, standing in line, you know. " 

Remember the missiles we had for anti-aircraft -- the Arm':! ~, 

the Hercules? He said, t~e are not gOing to use Greek "mythology 

any more. II '~ell, II I Said, "call it the Bla.ck Je..ek if you want. 

to. 1I 

That afternoon we had a meeting with all the Secretaries 

and Chiefs to wrap up the budget, and Brucker must not ha.ve 

thought I was there; I was sitting at the end of the ta.ble. 

41 

Page determined to be Unclassified 
Reviewed Chief. ROD, WHS 
lAW EO 13526, Section 3.5 
Date: IN 0 8 2014 

I r- . .: 



· .. I 

Brucker had a little pa'Wlch, you know -- patted his arms like 

this -- and he said, "Gentlemen, I have an important annaunce-

ment to make. We have decided to discontinue tbe Redstone 

missile. We now have foWld we can develop a missile at 10,000 

pounds, using solid fuel, with a range of • • • • 'rhere are 

people who want us to name it the Black Jack, but we are not 

going to do that. We have decided to name it the Pershi~." 

And that 1 s the Pershing missile we have got ~oday. That.' a a 

true story. That 1 s budgeting! 

CONDIT: 'rhat's unbelievable. 

McmL: That • s the way you make good decisions.. When I made 

deciSions I made them look as if they were made arbitrarily, 

but they were not really. That was after long discussion. 

~ 

HOFnfAN:· What about the decision in 1957 to cut 100,000 men 

out of the Anra1 Fiscal Year 1958 budget. Was that your 

I 

decision? t 

McNEIL: No, I don't recall that specifically. 
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HOF.FMAN: The IT 1958 bill was already, in conference .. and it 

was very late. That wa.s the budget th&t took so long to get 

through. In tact, that was the Y'e~ when the legal authority 

to budget ran out, went past JUne 30th. 

I , I 
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BEGINffING OF !APE ONE (MCNEIL) 

HOF~: The Democrats frequently accused President Eisenhower of 

. , 

being a budget firster (of giving too much weight to fiscal considera- ' 

tiona and too little weight to military preparedness.) The accusation 

was also made that the New Look was really a post facto rat10na~e to 
I' 

reduce expenditures -- that it wa.s a way of justifying reductions, 

not a really new concept, but a. way of dressing up what in fact was a 

reduction in defense spending. How do you l'espond ,to tha.t? 

MCNEIL: Well, 1 don 't think there would be any question that money 

limitations affected it but I don't think you can tie in the reason 

for it exa~J.y. Some of these thing don 't· happen in logic~ process, 

sometimes they are formed in different forms and by the time' they come 

together you find that the money and the farces,are pretty well to-

gether. Now in this caBe you were changing enwhasis. Certainly Ike 

and Hum:phrey and so forth were cODlldtted, to a balanced budget. 

Humphrey, 1ImOW', wanted to get 1 t several billion dollars below where 

we did get it. He came over for lunch occasiona.lly and would talk 

,.... . 
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about it. We didn It quarrel. with him. too much about the fact 

tb&t he wanted it lower because everybody wanted it down. But how 

much can we bring it down without causing trouble'l Well, the only 

way you could do it was to have a philosophy concentra.ted on your 

biS weapons -- place more emphasis on the big weapons and less on 

the ground forces. But I wouldn't say you could follow 8. trace of 

a line from the President or Security Council establiShing a l.im:I.t 

. 
of $35 billion and saying what forces can you get within it and then 

call it ironclad. Do you see what I am trying to get at"? 

HOFFMAN: Yes. 

MCNEIL: I don It think you wu;t find the exa.ct trace of a. line --

it wa.s osmosis -- movement by osmosis. Is that the right word? 

HOFFMAN: Tha.t is as good !it, word as any. 

MOlDIL: Yes, I think I am sure that the President didn 1 t think we 

would be using huge armed ground forces, and I ought to repeat that 

it was the prevailing consensus of opinion. At the time, the greatest 

threat was from big wea.pons and the m.ost powerf'ul. thins against it 
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was our devel.oping a capability pr1ma:r1.ly with the Air Force, but 

also with the Navy, on dell vering A-bombs. If we W'ere weak in 

that score there could be disaster, whereas with that we would be 

suffiCiently powerful -- we would have time to move. 

HOFFMAN: You can find a good many forerunners of the Bew Look con-

ceptB under Truman with an emphasis on strategic air pOW'er, an 

emphasis' on delivery systems and even tactical nuclear weapons but 

one new dimension in terms of' expansion ••• 

MCNEIL: The Pentagon didn't call that the "New Look, II the press did. 

HOFDtAH: The press called it the IINew Look?" 

MCNEIL: That I s where the name got started, I am sure. 

HOFFMAN: But the one new dimension of the Eisenhower military pro-

gram came from its heavy emphasis on continental defense -- air 

defense. This was intensively pursued during the Eisenhower Adminis-

tration although it too had been ~uggested under Truman. Do you , 
think in retrospect that the emphasis was a mistake? t 

MCNEIL: Well., in retrospect we spent too much money on it and we do 
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not have that much to show for it now. But my automobile which I 

thought to be the prize of the time wore out too. 

HOFFMAN: In the ~950s there were people in your office, especially 

in 1956 and ,1957, who already were suggesting that the techn~ogical 

requipements involved in dealing with an incoming m1ss:1~e were too 

extensive -- that it just simply couldn't be done within the existing 

technology and that an air defense system could not effectively be 

created. But yet the spending continued to go on. -- why? Was it 

Eisenhower I S particuJ..ar conc:ept10n, was it Wileon or Sprague I s in-

nuence t who was the driving force, and why did they continue to pursue 

the effort? Really it wasn't cut off completely until McNamara cem.e 

MCNEIL: I don't know W'hat you wou.ld say to this precisely -- we 

weren't perfect, you know. Just like this -- the Title 4 ,Amendment to 

the National Security Act. I put that together first -- the working 

capital thing and I presented it to the Secretary of the Navy the day that 

the bcmb was dropped on Hiroshima. and it was not until .August of ~949 

that I got it passed by Congress. At the time I thought it 
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would take me 10 years to put it into' effect and I didn't even get 

i t the~. WhAt I am trying, to say 1s that we often had a lot of 

ideas in our shop that we Couldn't get this huge mass, to accept or 

methods that COuldn't be changed, and perhaps it is good ,we didn't 

get all'of our brilliant ideas put into effect. 

HOFFMAN: I want to ask you about Secretary Wilson again. Who made 

up his inner circle of advisers1 Whose judgment did he trust? -Who: 

did he look to when he had to make a difficult deci..siou, who would 

he call in to consult? 

MCNEIL: He did quite a lot directly with his Secretaries and Chiefs, 

more than his predecessors had done. :Bu.t he did them one at a time 

instead of having quote "meetings. If Lovett depended on ~he meeting 

every Tuesday, or Wednesday morning a great deal. Wilson would get 

Twining alone or he would get the CNO or the Secretary of the Navy 

alone. He did a lot of that instead of having a meeting at which he 

would lay down rules and regulations. So be did as they did a.t 

General Motors where they apparently perf'ormed a lot of' wo.rk by 

48. 

Page determined to be Unclassified 
Reviewed Chief. ROD, IRS 
lAW EO 13526, Section 3.5 
Date: MAR 0 6 2014 

i 
- I , -, 

I 



,t ' .'"' ., • .1 ..... L:t. 

committees. A lot of people can't make a cODlltittee work. But 

General Motors did a lot of that in the finanoe committee, etc. 

And th.ey always had the internal checks and balances where you would 

have proposals and of course the finance group at General Motors 

always tore it down -- the ideas pushed by the promotion and the 

manufacturing side. Apparently, General Motors would get the guy 

who invented the Chevrolet in and so forth and work with him for two 

or three or four hours. Wilson used to do th&t in -Defense. He would 

talk to the Director of Research, Assistant Secretary for Logistics. 

Generally he was receptive to comments from a lot of circles. 

HOFntAN: And he worked well with most people -- with all the people 

be had to work w1th~ 

MCNl1!IL: Q,uite well. And I think the best evidence of it is the 

Air Force which was' auti-OSD in many things and Twin1n& when he be-

came Chairman, acted as though Wilson hUll6 up the sun 1n the morning 

and took it in at night. He thought he was great. So, yes, be got 
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along pre~~y well with them. 

HOFFMAW: His relationship witb Radford wa.s • • • "1 

MCNEIL: Excellent. 

HOFFM.A'N: Maybe I can come at the im.pact of Wilson and Radford from 

another angle. 

M.CDIL: I used to carry Redford t s sister r s books home from. scbool. 

HOFFMAN: Small world. Did President Eisenhover allow Secretary 

Wilson and Radford to play a significant role in shaping military 

policy, National Security Policy? Were they sim,ply the,adminis-

trators or were they also the shapers and architectsY Was Wilson 

largely a manager executing the President's programs or did he a.ffect 

the character of the programs'? 
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MCNEIL: I would say 60-40, something like that. Yes, he affected 

the shape of the program. 

BlOOINNJlIlG OF TAPE #3 (MCNEIL) 

HOFFM.AN: Would you say that Radford had more influence over military 

pOlicy'than Wilson? 

MCNEIL: Yf!S, but there was no difference between them. Radford 

used to go over to see the President alone, he used to go over with 

Wilson sometimes, and on occasion Wilson would go .over alone. But, 

I would say there was no discernible difference between the two in 

their philosophy, or ideas. Radford was a stubborn so and so you 
• 

know. If he had something on his mind he Would, carry right through. 

He was, I wontt say stubborn, but he was blunt -- no more than that 

stubborn -- I guess that's the right wa.y to :put it~ So some people 

would ha.ve trouble getting along with him because he just blurted out 

exactly ~t he thought. But that didn't bother Wilson. You could 

disagree with Wilson as long as you had a reason for it. 

HOFFJU'N: We talked earlier at lunch about the fact that Wilson was a 
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man who in cont.rast to others around him both within and outside of 

the Defense Department was' very self' assured. In the face of a lot 

of' the controversies' 'and reports of the 1950s -- the bomber gap, the 

Killian RepQrt, the Gaither Committee Report, -- which were all very 

dire, very pessimistic, Wilson, see»led unperturbed. I have also 

gone through some papers of' General Bonesteel, especiaJ.ly some things 

he wrote on the NBC Planning Board as the Defense Department's 

representative, and he also appeared very bell1ger,nt, very worried, 

and quite disturbed a.bout the future. But in contrast, when you look 

at Wilson, he seemed to be less -- how should we say -- less anxious 

about the capability of the United states in any kind of confrontation 

with the Soviet Union. What would you attribute this toY Is this 

an a.ccurate'reading of him? Did he know something other people didn't 

know! Was it more a manner of judSment than information? He just 

didn't seem to think that the Soviet Union was ten feet tall, as did, 

for example, the Symington Committee. 

MCNEIL: Well, I think the answer to tha.t is 
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right. He wasn't about to jump out of 8. Window every 

morning 'When he read the cables. It W8.S largely his b8.c:kground, 

where he was balancing the pros and cons. He tried to put things 

in :perspective. Yes, Russia was a problem but they weren't God 

Almighty. In the words you mentioned, .they weren't ten feet tall, 

and if you're8.cted. each time they moved you ~auld inevit8.bly overdo 

and shortly you'd find the reactions moving ba.ck. in the peaks and 

valleys again. That will happen with all history.and it will happen 

in the future. So, a lot of it is experience. Let me tell you a 

story abo'llt Wilson. Olga and I stayed at the Wilson's one New Yearts 

weekend. That evening we went over to their country club. Wilson 

and I drove over early and Olga and Mrs. Wilson came later. We were 

talking about Chrysler which had developed a new model, ~arrower out-

side and wider inside -- something like that. Chrysler had recently 

dropped from 20 some percent of the market to 16 or 17 percent but 

with this new car and engine I remarked to Wilson that Chrysler would 

now gLve General Moto~s a little trOUble. 
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" ". see, he Said, 95 peroent of the cars be~g. Bold today are repeats. 

The guy who owns a Pontiac goes back and gets another one. Only 

five percent get something else'and he said ~nce Chrys~er had lost 

them they won't get them back for ten years. If they do everything 

right they will have a three year peak and drop off and at the end of 

three years if they do everything right, which they won' t, they .may 

get back:. to their or1gin&l ma.rket.1I Of' course, Chrysler never has. 

So it is that type of thinking, pf' knowing' wbat rill happen among 

people and the way they think., and among forces and how long it will 

take to deve~op them, and so f'orth~ I think it you think things 

through you just don 't -- you don ft go crazy -- neither do you go to 

sleep on the job. I can understand bow he fe~t because that was the 

way he thought. 

HOFFMAN: So Wi~son wasn It as provoked by the Killian report as 

others were? 

MCNEIL: Tbat Killian was pretty solid -- pretty decent -- pretty 

Bolid citizen. 
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-HOFFMAN: But the report was very serious in its implications. 

MCltEIL: So often Chairmen of these damn committees don't even read 

the report before they sign 1 t. Do you think Fitzhugh read all of 

the reports of his blue ribbon committee? He didn't read the whole 

business. 

HOFJ'.MAN: No, I am sure he didn 't. 

MCNEIL: I am not even sure he read my dissent. 

HOFFMAN: Would. ;you say of the reports that occurred il.l the Defense 

Department du.:M.ng the Wilson period that the Killian Report was the 

one that had the greatest impact on the budget? 

- . 
MCNEIL: I don't believe I can answer your question. 

HOFFMAN: The reason I say this is because you were always very much 

opposed to partial financing -. full financing was the hallmark of . 

your position in bu4geting -- and of course the missile program did 

go on partial. financing. They virtually :pulled out all stops in" ICBM 

and IRBM development after the Killian Report. 

MCNEIL: Yes, if you have a policy of full. funding, you keep fJ'1tf8.Y as 
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much a.s you can from. partial financing, but aJ.l these tb1ngs are 

relative. 'lake shipbuilding. You might go along with a variation' 

of partial financing if you hAd one item or two i tem.13 in the program. 

that you had to order a. year or two before you laid the k.eel. You 

might sJ.so have advance funding for atanic reactors. Perha.ps it 

would influence you to know that the reactor couJ.d always be used in 

some other program. if you didn't use it in this one. Next if you' 

are building a. new base you might want .,financing f~r the whole base 

but you wouJ.dn1t be violating your principles if you went along with 

one runway running north and south and three ha.:ngers, instead. of two 

runways and seven hangars) in other words a useab1e increment. Or) 

right at, the moment the idea that work.ed for Fairchild~ from'which 

the Air Force Elventu.aJ.l:y wants to acquire 7.32 A-lO airplanes. They'll 

order them. by year. This year I s order will be 66, and next year it 

will be a bundred. So you don I t fully £'und all 732 at the moment. 

HOFFMAN1 The defense budget under your direction was composed initially 

of obligational authority and expenditures and then you developed the 
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category of direct obligations: It ~ be an artificial question, 

but which of these three components qo you 'think was most influenced 

by military and foreign policy objectives during the Wilson period? 

Or more precisely did the new look have a counterpart in terms of 

budgetary policy, and the operation of your office? Was the concept of 

direct obligations not only a means of controlling finanoes but in 

addition a way of encompassing and compromising different objectives? 

MCNEIL: Well, let me go back just a little bit. w,hen Forrestal first 

gave me a job in 1944, ! was to start an office called the fiscal direc.tor 

because at that time the Bureaus were all separate. They asked me if I 

would do it. Well, really I wasn't the o~ person or perhaps the best 

person to do it. At the time the phil.osop~ was you asked for, oh, 10 

or 20 percent more than you ever expected to get. Forrestal said,I'Wbat 

, u 
do you think about that philosop~ .. - should we pad the thing? He 

said, "Ilm told that in government that's the right wa.y to do it." I 

said, !II think: we oUght to go for what we ought to have, and try to 

prove it." But I said, ''We Will probably pay a pen&l.ty for it, tq.e 
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.first year or two we try it. fI It so happened that year J I think 

the Navy budget came out wi thin $300 of what we asked for, which was 

around $5 billion so we didn tt su.f.fer the first time around. I 

thought we started to build some confidence in the Tabors, the 

Cannons, the M.ahons and peop~e of that kind, and we were doing our best 

to be qUite honest about the whoie thing, figuring it wa.s good sal.es 

talk. For example, for yea.rs they used to give me a $150 million 

:fund which we didn't have to justify. One Y'ear wa only us!!d $7 million 

and I remember Congress said what do you want $~50 million for next 

year when Y'Ou only needed $7 million this yeal) and I said beca.u.se the 

only way- we are going to get this money is over our dead bodies if we 

have a true emergency. We got the $~50 m1llion aga.in. So I think 

you have to work awfully hard to establish credit,and if they believe 

that you are doing right, I won't say theY' won't cut you some time 

because of philosophy or something else, but chances are you are going 

to come out looking pretty good. 

Actually, I would say that whether you had a Korea, a llew Look, 
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or What-not, we would have done the same thing as ·fa~t. . 'We were 

lea.rning, too, you know. If we had been able to go to schoo~ and get 

some of these things we might have done it the first year or two but 

we were inventing and trying out. and in fact, doing same of those 

things for ourselves before we ever started to show them to the Secre-

tary or the' Department of Defense or the Bureau of the :Budget. Probably 

we a.t times did things we shouldn f t ha.ve done. That $5 billion you 

sa.y we took away in 1954, perha.ps that ought to have been down a 

billion or two if we had been a little sharper. I don't think we lost 

any money and I don't think the ta.xpapers did because we didn't use it, 

but, it would .look a little better on the record if' we hadn't been 

quite so abrupt. 

HOFFMAN; By 1957 you bad fUJ.J.y developed your fina.ncial plan which 

rea.J.ly rationalized bea.uti:t'ully the entire budget proe~ss. It laid 

ou.t for the fiscal yea:r all your sources of funding, obligations, and 

expenditures. It certainly he~ped the Congressional Committees to 

understand the budget process. You educated them.. And ironlcaJ.ly 
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that was the one Eisenhower year that Congress att~ted to really 

pare the budget. 

MCNEIL: Yes, that is true but, I still think. your Department is 

sm&t"t to go up with as solid a package as' you can go up with, one that 

is complete and understandable. I just can It think of any other ans-

wer. 

HOFFMAN: Which members of the Congressional Committees did you find 

the most perceptive, the most understanding and in~ormed? 

MCNEIL: Well" the House, the House Subcomnittee~ ot course, because 

they spent ninety days, six or eight hours a day on 1 t and several of 

them used to make extensive field trips between sessions. Their staft 

wa.s fair, pretty good. The Senate sta.fi" probably had greater influence 

on the Senators because all of them were on too many Committees. I 

think the Department of Defense was fortunate for a good many ye~s 

iu having some pretty able, solid citizens on our Committees -- both 

the. Armed Forces and Appropriations. 

HOFF.M.AN: Mahon has always been a good friend of the Pentagon. 
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MCNEIL: Yes, also Ford who was there for years, Laird, Minshall, a. 

number of pretty solid citizens. 

HOFFMAN: Let me ask you a question about one aspect of the Defense 

program which was always controversial., the Mu~l Defense Assistance 

Programs whose expenditure operations your office controlled after 

1955. From. that time on the services were no longer able to abuse 

the program in the way they had previously. Did Wilson think this 

. 
, I 

• 
program was worth the money it was costing? The Etervices certainly 

looked longingly at that resource, especially the Arm':f. Although 

they were later reimbursed, they were the ones who were forced to pay 

the bills initially. 

MCNEIL: Well the Arrrry got and sold an awfUl lot of second-hand 

material. i 

t ";i , 

HOFFMAN: Yes, until you took control of the books they sold second-

hand material. but billed for and subsequently purchased first-band 

equipnent. 

MCNEIL: They didn't charge,the discount even if the material had been 

used. 
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HOFFMAN: Did Wilson consider this program worthwhile~ The reason 

I say this is because most of the reports from the Services on th~ 

status of those nations whose military forces in Europe reoeived sUb-

stantial. amounts of equipment were always negative. It could. be that 

they were saying this in an effort to make a point in terms of scarce 

resources being wasted. Of course it could also be that they beUeved 

this to be the case, but I wonder if' Wilson fe~t as committed to this 

program as the President did? 

MCNEIL: The President was committed to it. 

HOli"FM.AN: Absolutely. Was the Defense Department as committed to it? 

MCNEIL: I would guess it was, although you would find more objectors 

over there. But as far as any official formal. action is concerned, 

I think they all bought the idea. You always run into the fact that 

Col.onel Whoslt~ or General Whodt, or Admiral. Whosit felt that if' you 

do somethihg like that I could use it much better. And I am not sure 

that the conflicting ideas on the thing didn't keep us a little c~oser 

on the beam. than it would have otherwise. 
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some of the objections come in, they just might help you ,do the 

right thing. Boy, you get one o'f these' big machines SWinging in One' 

direction without anything working in oppposi tion and you can do some . 

aw:f'ully silly things. There were service people who thought that we 

could ,do better with it -- that we could do better with the resources 

than by a.llowing it to go abroad to some of our allies. There wa.s 

plenty of that, but it didn r t e.f'fect official policy. They weren I t 

lighting the President, a.t least not that I know ~f. 

HOFFMAN: If I can a.sk you, a very specific question) and I will pre-

face it by taJ..king a.bOll.t 1957 and the issues involved in the formation 

of the fiscal year 1958 budget. At that t;i.me the Artrry had a.bout one-

half billion dollars of, unapportioned, unobligated f'unijs and 

because of your financial plan I was f1nsJ.J.y able to determine -- and 

I don't know if this is tber1ght term to use -- the amount of free 

m.oney that each of the services had. I assume that this was the 

amount of money you believed it necessary for t~em. to have -- the 

required flexibility so they could pursue certain avenues if the need 
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should arise. The kI.!rrq had about one-haJ.f billion at that time but 

because of the budget format you designed Congress was able to cut that. 

ActualJ.yt the half' billion was in the procurement account. 

MCNEIL: Ia that the year that Congress transferred money from the 

Army stock fund? 

HOF.FMAN: Yes, that's right, yes. 

MCNEIL: Which happened almost every year. But, that was one of the 

first years. 

HOFFMAN: The Arm'y had been living off the Korean War money Since 1954, 

especiall¥ the tunds that were either recouped. or deobllga.ted. The onl¥ 

other steady source came from the MAP reimbursements. So they got down 

to the point where they had one-half billion left and they lost it that 

year. You· wanted them to keep itt you felt they needed it. Blaisdell, 

your budget director, felt they needed it -- that they needed to have 

this money in their account. But they lost it. .J\nd I am curious if 

you had in your own mind all the time a precise figure as to how mu.ch 

fr~e money each service should ha.ve~ 
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MCNEIL: No, we didn't ha.ve -- I dontt think we ever had it targeted. 

I always like to have a little money in the corner. 

H01i'FMAN': Yes. 

MCNEIL: You just mentioned one thina: that made me think. of one major 

change that we had 'because of this legislation. Throughout the Army's 

history it always had armual money for procurement. I tried to get 

them to use no year money_ Again it was part of' an idea. of how to 

get more efficient use of your resources. In the 'case of annual money, 

any Department of Government tbat has annual. money, once they ma.k.e 

a contract, tbat' s it. Even if' they don I t need the damn stuff a.fter-

Wards, they still Biet delivered 'because what's the use of cancelling 

it? They canrt U$e the money. We bad trouble putting it in the A:rmy 

and terrific trouble in the Air Force 1n the beginning, but by getting 

, cont:i.nuous type money for the ArtIJ'9, Kavy, Air Force procurement --

the Navy already had it for shipbuilding -- we rea.lly _roved the 

system. After that you could go up to June 30, and not buy the stuff --

I 

you cwld wa.:it to J~ 5th if you wanted to. Instead of rushing !;\round 
.f 
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madly in April or May to buy an aircraft that hun' t l:?eel!l tested, 

you don't lose your shirt -- you don't lose a damn thing by waiting 

until let's say August 1. Next, 1f you got an aircraft or tank or 

something that is not provirlg out, you can cancel it and buy what you 

do need. That t S exactly what you do in the f'a.mily; you cancel out 

something and go buy something you do need. The real problem was how 

to get the program managers to look at things that way. It took three 

or four years to where we could even get them into that frame of mind, 

to look 'at the billions of dollars of outstanding contracts to see if 

there was something they didn't need. Now, I am afraid, because of some 

of the unfortunate things that have been d ene recently, the program 

managers are, going to lose some of the authority they had for complete 

flexibility. 

When I was head of the money for the Navy we initially were 

r~ing the'war from about 400 different appropriations. I wanted to 

$et it down so we had specific appropriations for allowances, procure-

ment" and m&intenance, with one main allotment, and one report back .. 
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That report could then be broken down in any way accountins wise 

that you chose. But take Blandy, as I say out in the Pacific, with 

189 aJ.lotments. It wasn I t even run right. Anybody tha.t would run 

one of those things honestly was nuts, ,since all you had to do was 

account- for the expenditure SOJI1e way. So to return to m::r original 

point, tbis changing to continuing type money, I think, was one of 

the important economieB that we created which never shows -- it 

really never shows. 

HOFFMAN: Brundage and others at the BUreau of the Budget ,frustrated 

your intentions since they wanted the recoupments when they occurred. 

They wanted that money to go back. whereas you wanted the Services 

,to be allowed to keep it: 

MClfEIL: That's the only way you are going to give Colonel'Whoslt 

.ome incentive to look over bis lousy program and take out the junk. 

It is just that simple. No, never take away incentive to correct 

an error, to do something "right. 1/ 

HOFFMAN: How woUld you evaluate the capability of the'various men 

67 

Page determined to be Unclassified 
Reviewed Chief, ROD, WHS 
lAW EO 13526, Section 3.5 
Date: MAR 0 6 20.4 

-, 

I 



t ' , 'til ,'>, .. ~ I t 

who were Directors of the Bureau of the Budget! How would you rank 

them performance-wise? 

MCNEIL: Dodge was probably the best, aJ.thougb be was there too 

short a time. He w&s pretty good because be understood what "the 

broad picture" was and he was smart enough to have a feel for what 

was going on. He might not know whether 99 or 100 was tbe correct 

figure but he knew the answer was somewhere in the nature of a 

hundred. Rob was a good technician but not a prOjJ.t'am. man. Remember 

Lawton? D1d yo~ ever hear of Lawton? ,. 

CONDIT: Korean period. 

MCNEIL: Frank Pace? He could take, a 500 word brief1ng and dis-

course on it for 30 lllinutes in a very author1tative manner. He was 

good at taking the staff work and using it to bolster his arguments. 

HOfFMAN: Wbat about Brundage? I know what you think. of Brundage 

because I saw sometb1ng you wrote one time which was ~erta1nly 

'Illlcompllmentary. 

MCNEIL: I just wonder if ,it will ever be in a position where he 'can 

use it for libel. 
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HOFFMAN: You wrote one time • • • 

MCNEIL: He wasntt bonest. 

'HOFFMAN: ••. you said, that he couliin't design a b~get to 

finance battle monuments. 

MCNEIL: Did I say that? 

HOFFMAN: 'les. 

MCNEIL: I was complimentary that day. For example, the type of 

thing he would do -- when we bad the first Navy m1ss1~e -- was it 

the Viking ,-- little sma.1.l missi~e that could get up 75 miles. 

Well, anyway) the scientists got busy and they improved the program. 

Over at the Burea.u of the Budget, they said it would cost $15 m:i.l.ll~n. 

We took a look a.t it and being very knOW'ledgeable of course on the 

subject -- never having gone to school on the subject -- we guessed 

$~OO million. So I had a fight with Brundage and told him it would 

cost $100 million a.nd he wouldn't buy it. Next they sent it up and 

the budget was $6 million. It started with that figure but from 

there it went to $15. We had to use some Pentagon money for the 
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second or third increment of that and the fourth increment as well. 

, Each time Brundage would say if you let me have this money in the 

Pentagon we will go along with a suppleaental if' you need it. His 

word wasn't good. 

HOFFMAN: Yes, as far as the supplemental, yes. 

MCREIL: We didn't want a supplemental if' we didn t t need it. 

HO'F'FM.A.lf: He wanted you to finance the Vanguard aJ.one'l 

NCIfEIL: I said it would cost over $100 million wbich it did. 

HOFmAN: Yes. That was a supplemental to Fiscal Ye8.l" 1957. 

MCNEIL: yo~ memory is much better than mine. 

HOFFMAN: 11m just 'working in those records right nOW'. 

END OF TAPE 3 

BEGINlflNG OF TAPE 4 

HOFFMAN: It I can get back to another question about the budget. 

The fiscal year 1958 was a tight one when it came out of your 

office and Congress cut it further. Then the 1957-1958 recession 

occurred in which it would seem the reduction in Defense expenditures 
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pla,yed a. contributing role. Of, course you got an upSw1ns in ex-

pendi tures in 1958 from. the Defense Department in part because of 

Sputnik but also, I imagine, in an effort to try and curb the reces-

s-ion that ha.d developed. Do you think I am COl"l"ect in suggesting 

that the cut in th~ Defense budget contributed to the recession of 

19581 

MCNEIL: I would doubt it beeause the lag in spending wbicb woul.d 

resul.t from the new obllgatlonaJ. authority woul.d come much later. 

However, I think you would f1nd a v~ry shallow dip, although I don't 

recall the exa.ct figures. Still I would question whether it had &11y 

important significance for the recession. 

I do remember when Studebaker ran into trouble, Ike gave Wilson 

the job of seeing if we could keep Studebaker ali va. It was about 

the only time we ever d~d ~se any money because of political pressure, 

or rather because of economic and political pressures. Ike gave the 

job to Wilson, and Wilson told me to figure out some wa.y to keep the 

company from. going under. Had. it ha.ppened that woul.d ha.ve been the 
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biggest caamerciaJ.. bankruptcY' in history. And, to that extent, we 

did do what ;rou are taJ..1dng about. In that case, I think Wilson, . 

no we both went up to Detroit to see the President at General Motors -

so he wouJ.dn t t bid on the next little bunch of trucks. Gr if not 

that it'he would buy studebaker, one of tbe two. Well he didn't do 

either. 1'hen, we arranged to buy- three ;rears worth of trucks but at 

the rate of $2500 or some such number per year in order to give the 

banks and so forth some idea that m8¥be Studebake~ would be in 

. business tomorrow. We got Curtis Wright to buy one plant up near 

Detroit. I see him occasionally and he still kids me about buying 

the plant. I remember we did that to keep Studeba.ker alive because 

we thought that would trigger a lot of unfortunate consequences. 

That • s the only posi ti ve thing I can think where we' used Defense 

money tor economic or political purposes. I just thought, or rather 

Ike thought, it would be a bad deaJ.. AnywaY' J the waY' it worked out 

was fine, because we went to International Haa-vester and they a.lso 

agreed not to underbid. . That t s the only time I know ot when things 
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were rigged; 

HOFFMAN: ActuaJ.l.;y' --

MCNEIL: IncidentaJ.ly, we didn't pay Studebaker any more money than 

they had bid the last year; they had won last year's procurement and 

they got the same price for the new one. We were trying our level 

best to keep them in business, :tt we.a not a give away in any shape or 

form.. We Just didn't feel that such a large number of employees go-

ing out of bUSiness would help the econOll'l.Y and that I s true. 

HOFFMAN: In 1954 the administration also.thought of using the Defense 

budget as a partial measure to stimulate the economy. There were 

some messages and letters between your office and the Bureau of the 

Budget about this. They were specifically interested in pumping a 

little more money through the military pUblic works program. Of course 

you had been working very hard to. restrain spending and you couldn f t 

reverse course that quickly. 

MCNEIL: The only time I' remember we did anything thoush, was the 

Studebaker bankruptcy. 
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HOF,rMAN: Aetua.l..l3, 1n 1954 yaur personal oppoBitlon prevailed and 

nothing was done about it. Row would you assess the influence ot 

private contractors on the Defense Department's budget operations. 

It must have been especially difficult in the 1950s as the specifica-

tiona for new systems became increasingly c~lex to make decisions 

on the programs these people advocated. The Defense Department must 

always be under heavy pressure from the~einterests. 

MCNEIL: Yes, they are, but it is manageable, I t!link. 

HOFFMAN: ,With the right people? 

MCNEIL: I said a. minute ago that today they ha.ve an outfit down 

there called DSARC. You a.re fa.mil.iar with tha.t? DSARC'l . 

HOFFMAN: Yes. 

MCNEIL: Which is nothing but the resea.:rch work for the procurement 

people and they now have tlie people who do the inspection work, etc. 

We used to check all those people before -.:. we just didn't do it 

fo~ • our records are proba.bly pretty lousy, because a lot of 

this wa.sn't written down. A lot of things we did were never put into 
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formal memoranda or notes. We did check them out pretty thoroughli 

and this is probably going to sound funny but they check themselves •. 

We used to have a lot of contractors stop in and say hello 

Walter Grumman, Jake Swervel, Bill Allen, of Boeing. God~, they 

were all cats and dogs. They 'Would come in and sit down and talk 

for ten minutes. "That sounds like pressure, but listen, Boeing can 

tell. you more about what is wrong with Douglas than your own analyst 

will. Irving Roth used to be the 'World t s best at !iigging out the 

dirt ~ So he would bring Grumman and: Swervel in and we would talk. a 

little While and we would get a pretty good teel of what the other 

guys were doing in the factories. 

HOFFMAN: So, it works both ways. 

M.CNEIL: It 'Works both Ways if you do it right 

Yep, that's budgeting. No, listen. You talk. to Macy and they 

can tell you wha.t· is wrong with Gimbels. Irving Roth was the. -- if I . 

may digress just a moment -- was a very unusual person. I don't know 

if he bad finished the eighth grade, but he had a knack of getting 

'rs 

f 
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people to talk to him. I remember his experience with Fred 

Thompson, President of Thompson Products, 'lWR. I used to keep 

, Roth on the roed balf the time. This time he went out to Cleveland. 

He had never been to ThompS011 Products and I told him to stop in 

and see Fred Thompson. So he went in. and a blonde secretary was 

sitting at· the desk. Roth just breezed in and said '''bello SWeetheart" 

is Fred in? He had never met President Thompson. "He t s busy" --

II it's all right I just wanted to say hello to him," so he opened the 

door and that was about 3 o'clock. 5 o'clock Fred Thanpson said, 

"Irv, come on, let's go out to the house' and let's have a drin.k." 

At 7 o'clock he said flIrv, wouJ.d you mind staying for dinner, and 

a.f'ter dinner we will go down to the plant. I' ve got some things I 

want to show you. II So they went down to the' plant at 9 0 f clock and 

Thompson opened the s&t'e and brought Roth some papers. That's typical . 

of Roth. I would get thrown out on m.y ear. I would have been out at 

five minutes after three, but Roth was there all evening till damn 

near midnight. 
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Tell you another story. I used to let him go with Lt. Gen. 

Tom Edwards in Air Force Procurement. Ml'9W8.Y, he was going on & 

trip out West and I used to arrange for Roth to go with him. ,They 

went out to Bgeing, and the next morning I had a ca.ll from Roth. He 

said, "Boss, do me a. favor will you? I'm going to be down in 

Douglas' office tomorrow morning. Will you give me a. ring and tell 

me to come ba.ck quick, that you ha.ve a Friday af'ternoon flap?" Okay, 

so I wa.1 ted until the next morning and c&.lled him.. He was down in 

Douglas r office in Los Angeles. I said, "Irv, we have a flap going 

on, can you get back here right quick?" "Okay, boss. If So he came back. 

On Monday when Roth came in I said, "What t S cooking?" He says, 

''Well, General Ir';'ine - " did you ever hear of the nlU!1e Major General. 

Irvine _II he told his aide to ca.ll Howard Hughes and said, 'Listen I 

want some starlets out at Palm Springs; I want them for a party. I Next 

Roth said, "I knew tha.t you didn't follow too much wha.t wa did individu-

alJ.y, but you didn' t want me hooked in an official way or anythinS like 

tha.t. So I thought, well, Irvine proba.bly won 't ,make the arrangements, 

but if he does, I will stay for the party, and if he doesn't, I've got 
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an excuse to leave. 1I 

Well about four'months later the Navy couldn't get any Pra.tt -and 

Whitney engines to test the F-4 -- a 'NaVy plane but the Air Force 

developed the engine. '.the Navy couldn't get the engines. So 1 told 

Irv to go up to General Irvine and tell him that I bad just received 

some inf'o~tion from California that there were some questionable 

practices going on out there and I was going to have an investigation 

unJ.ess a couple of engines were in that F-4 right quick. '.the Navy got 

clearance for the engines at four that afternoon and there was no 1n-

vest1gation of Howard Hughes. And they were delivered. 

CONDIT: Business is done in interesting ways. 

HOFFMAN: If I JlJAy lId like to ask yOll about another iSsue'l I sense 

from some of the materials I have covered that in 1954 several steps 

were taken, some of which have not been recorded, toward the United 

States entering Indochina. I was surprised to find OIlt, for example, 

that there was a good deal of budget material prepared on that oon-

tingency and that your shop worked actively on the project. 
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MCREIL: Indochina~ 

HOFFMAN: Indochina. -- into Vietnam. What generally do you think were 

-
the operating factors1 What were the reasons that Eisenhower ultimate-

ly decided not to become involved? We know part of the story -. the 

fact tha.t Ridgway wa.nted between six and eight divisions'l But it would 

seem. that more than numbers were involved. If' Eisenhower had been 

willing to enter Indochina in 1954 he would have had to reverse every-

thing he had worked for since taking office. Not 'Only would it have 

required more manpower but it would ha.ve constituted a direct criticism 

of the ideas of the New Look. 

MCNEIL:.. You mea.n he was against a ground war in Asia.Y 

HOFFMAN: Ground wa.r in Asia -- :right, so I am wondering if you have 

any sense of how seriously the matter was considered'l 

MCNEIL: I don't remember that there was any really seriOUS thought of 

it. I do remember tha.t I was aver there twice, in 1956 and 1957 and 

that I sa.w Lt. General. Sam Williams. I saw that sta.1'f building and aga.in 

maybe by osmosis but without intention it is quite possible we were moving 
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in that direction Just because we thought some of the :policy makers in 

the Goverment. were with UB~ I don't tb1nk it was very serious as' far 

as we were concerned. It could have been but I' don r t remember. 

HOFFMAlf: There wsen t t a11¥ seriOUS talk"l 

MCNEIL: I was in Salgon the day that the 'Frenah save up and left. 

Quarles and, I were there. We took the review of' French troops at the 

last torme.tion. I remember that the military assistance group over 

tbere ... - the HAAG group -- he.d been increased substant1al1:y, purported1:y' 

:for training onlJr. 

HOFFMAN: In 1954f 

MCNEIL: It wasn't too big in 1954 -.:. 1957 wa.s mucb bigger. 1954 was 

250 as I remember. 

HOFFMAN: Yes, but it got to about ••• 

MCNEIL: 1500 When I we.s there in 1956. 

MCNEIL: As I r-.ember it. 

HOF.FMAN: 'Fhat's civilian and m11ita..l7, or is thst strictly military? 
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MClEIL: I was thinking mill t&ry • 

HOF:Ii'M.A.N: l've seen same deployment figures on that - .. I nll have' to 

check on those figures. . 

Mcmn:L: I could be' wrong. 

HOli'FMAlf: It stqed the same onae it reached a. certain plateAu. 

KCNEIL: Sta;yed the same and went to a lower level for a 'W'h:11e, too. 

HarFMAN: 81% lnmdred and seventy-five to seven hundred are the :f'iguree 

I've gener'al~ seen. There W8.S a. slight increAse above, but not very 

much. If you cODg;)e.re that group nth other groups a.cross the world it 

wouldn't loom tbat large. 

MONEIL!' No, I dOn't recall t:t.iat there was an:! real thou,gb.t of going 

into Southeast Asia on the gro'Wld. 

HOlI'FMAN: Well, the s1.:lggestion has alwqs been tliet E:lsenbower consulted 

Congress and it he could have secured COngressiODS.l bAcking and also ac-

quired the collective participation ot our Allles that he would bave con-

sidered going ahead 'With the intervention Prog:r'Ul. axt it seems to me 

that such a step would bave in 'so 1DB.DY' ways defeated the objeetives that 
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he bad been working towards. 

MCNEIL: I don't reeall 1t. 

HClFFMAN: It bas never str'llCk. me as be1ng a ver:I serious sort ot exerci-se. 

He did inform members of Congress and there were discussions, but there 

wasn I t ~ action of any serious nature in TOur otfice and 1 t would bave 

to be 1n your office; thq would have to start gettilll tbe O&M :money 

inoreased. 

MCNEIL: A little bit, yes. 

HOFPMA.lf: Tluit would be reflected tbere. 

Let me introduce something else. In, all of the changes in the ~ 

sets of 1954, 1955, 1956 that involved bomber production -- and espeela.l~ 

:s-52 production - .. your offioe took ~ number of steps both to sa.ve money 

and increase production. To aocomplish this you reduced lead time a.nd 

at the same time upped production. The latter step satisfied the Oongres-

s1onaJ. oritics, but by reducing lea4time, e~pecially' in 1956, you were 

ab1.e to &lso reduce the bUl.'lget request. When I look at fiscal l!01.1o)" as 

reflected in your otfioe, I alllBYS try to make a oonneotion betwee,n fiseal 
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poliey, foreign polley and military pollc;r based on 1ntell1gence 

. evaluations but there is a1W8.¥s some ld.nd of discontinuit;r. For 

e:xamp1e, what it suggests is that in the case of the B-52 you. increased. 

prod:uct10n from. 15 to 20 a month to appease CO!lgress. But at the same 

time to meet )'Our other SO,a! -- to eave mon~ .. - lead oloder time was 

reduced. 

MCNEIL: If you can't Uck them, join them? 

HOFFMAI: Yes that is the sort of thi:og. Is that the yew to read it or 

not? It was the one thing that fi:na.Uy quieted Congress d.awn .. 

MCNEIL: Ob, I wouldn't put that mu.ch emphasis on it. I'd put J,Ilore _hasie 

·on the fact that >,:OU started. w::I.th leadt1llle and up to a certain extent it 

would be a more efficient wrq to run the program.. Blt all you have to 

do is have two and one-half ;rears lead time on a B-52 and you ,are going 

to encounter tremendous waste, particu1ar~ on an aircraft which is deve-

l.oping thrO'Ugh all the cUfferent A, B, OJ D, E and F m.od.el.s, etc. All. 

you bave to do 1s have two and 8. bal.:f' years 1.ea4t1me on a »-52 8.lld 700 

'Will find. that ta:11. s~ces, wing services, f1.e.ps, etc., al.l coul.d under-
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go change a.nd you would bave to scrap them. The shorter the l.eadtime you 

can get betwe"en the time of the decision and the time you get the -article, 

the better -- 'Up to a. certain point. The shorter the lead time between 

your decision and the art1cle, the more eff'iciency there is likely to be, 

as lo~ as you can make 1 t r.easOllably' orderly." General Motors, of oOUrse, 

was the master in short lead t1mes. General. Motors !ruck Dlvision, tor 

example, for years ran on an elwen day supply. That 'Was a weakness too. 

In case they had a, strike they had nothing. It a strike hit a supplier 

1 t a.ffected them, but they kept their e&r to the grOUDd pretty much • 

.And 1t' thea- were likely to have B. strike, the;y CNer ordered on the 

parts so they were seldom oaught off base. General Motors always had ' 

a abort lead time. That is one of the reasons they made 20·pereent on 

sales against 10" percent for someboc3y else. So Wilson vas in fe-vor of 

short lea.dt1me. It's true too that you didn't have to have so much 

new obligational authority tor each ye&r t s aircraft proouremen:t. Also 

ve tried to make an etfort to have reasOII&bly stable schedules, a.nd that 

was ver;r 1mportant for congress. Check back tar enoush -"" you'll find 
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30 or 40 tails out of Wichita far B-52s Ware we got a hold of it ... 

before we foUIld that the Air Force was rushing two months produetion of 

tails before they got the f'ueelaies and the wings straightened out. 

HOFFMAN: Ma:a'be I tend to look at the budget too much as a political 

doc\D.ent. I rem.em.ber a joke tbat Htm:l'7 Glass told me. It • a one tbat 

he sqs )"ou . told him when )"ou were ta1k1ng about the budget. You said 

that the budget is al~s a judgmental isaue at best and )"Ou told the 

story about the guest in the New York Hotel. He was a trequent guest and 

he alW8.)"s had the seme bellboy and on this trip he gave the bellba,y a 

bottle of whiskey. The next time back -- )"Ou remember this story -- be 

asked the bellboy- how he'd liked the bottle of wbiskey't "Just about right." 

lIWha.t do you mean, just about right? II "Well, if it ws too bad I couldn 1 t 

drink it and if it vas too gOOd you wouldn't have given it to me." 

MONErL: '!bat's budgeting. 

HOFFMAll: I guess I alWl\Ys look for that dimension in it, that tbere are 

alvays contra.r,y influences working that influence where you want to move 

and bow fast. Page determined to be Unclassified 
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MONElL: Consciousl¥, or subconscdouslq, I am sure that has happened. 

Subconsciously 1 t is bound to ba.:wen, bound to exert influences on 'the 

problem no matter who is doing it. Int .. if you strive to do it you ca.:n-

do it reasonably' fair • ..; get the evidence on both sides. I would not IiSq 

we ,were never intlueneed by' poUt-ieal situations" I am sure we were. 

Ii' we had something we knew we couldn't sell, or couldn't buy, we prob-

abq m.od1:f'1ed it somewhat to the point where we could. ! am sure we did 

that sometimes. 

ROFFMAN: Well, as an example, I wOUld again like to go back to that per .. 

sonne! eut in 1957 ... when you bad to make a cut somewhere. 

MCNEIL: I think we were up to the point then when we were getting ceiling 

budgets. 

HOJ.i'.FMAN: Yes, tbat was after yOU bad the overrun in fiseal year 1957 .. 

you had almost s. $3 billion overrun. You began to get warning of it in 

January of 1957 and it was quite clear by' June. At the same time 1ihese 

overruns were oceurring you were working with Congress on the fiscal. 

year 1958 budget •. !!.be ArtlJ:1 reduction vas a critical decision because the 
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Arm:! had been holding at a millon men tor several years and vas suddenly 

cut to 900 thousand. 1tf cutting personnel you could aut tast spen41ng 

mane;'( in both tne personnel. accounts e.nd- in operation and maintenance 

accounts. That Wa.s ~ decision that cert&:1nJ.7 lIad politIcal dimensIons. 

You bad to keep those programs with special priorities,,' and the reduction 

in personnel would. be one that Congress could understand and that WOUld 

crea.te tbe least amount Of controversy. 

MCmL: I am sure tbat you could probab1;y' trace it back to a ceiling 

'budget appraa.eh. 

H'0lI'FHAN: It was a ceili'ng budget. It was an ex:petld1ture ceiliI18 where 

the PreSident, BI:'ul1de8e and. Wilson had agreed. not to expend above $35 

in fiscal year 1958. Then came Sputnik. What difference did Sputnik 

make in budgeting? Did the 11d go oft atter that '1 

,MCNEIL: Wo. 

HOF.FMAlf: It didn't make much of a difference? 

MCNEIL: No, because there wasn't lIIUCh you could do that quick. Art:! 

increased effort an the U. S. missile programs really had to be carried 
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out by the people already assigned or slowl¥ recruited afterwards. It 

. 
_an' t something you could just g<? Qut a.Dd double overnight. At least II 

as I recall, We didn"t think so. You hs.d. to start the dav after with the 

same number of people you bad. on Monday. It would take some time before 

you could get real a.ccdera.t10n. .ArJ:ywe;f to 1111' knOWledge there wa.sntt 

too much restre.int in tbat field on money" or programs, if you cOUld 

find the right people to do t~e work. 

HOFFMAN: The reason I ask this is because of' the ,small. bit of iron,y in-

volved. When I follow your Office t:ta:wgb the 19508, from lAte 1940s 

thrOugh 1950s you are increa.sinsl7 building greater controls to d1scipline 

the spending process, the appropriation process, the obligation process, 

the expenditure process, the control over MAP money, the control over 

all obl,lgational authOrity, the apportionm.ent process" the allocs.t10n 

process, these are all. being refined and you had meshed them together 1n 

the financial p1a.n used for the eperation of the fiscal: year 1958 budget. 

So, everything is consolidated, controlled, and disciplined; it 'WaS really 

an impressive a.cc~lishm.ent. In maJJY' ways this symboUzed the essential 
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direction in which the Administration had wanted to go .... and when this 

is fi~ all rat1ona.llzed, a.nd made coherrent, then camas S,putn1k~ a.nd 

I Just wondered if the same em.pba.s1s a.nd.' tone cou1d. continue on b\'!dgetary 

discipline a.f'ter Sputnik. If I'm not mistaken the deficit for 1959 was 

$12 billion. 

MCNEIL: I take it 'back. I can't relate certain events to specific times. 

It has been 20 years, almost. But, yes, I dontt remember if it happened 

within one month or six lI10nths but there was the decision to go ahead 

with two thousand mile m.1ssiles -- one for the Antt:I and one for the Air 

Force, not knowi:ng which one would pro9'e out. And of course, there was 

a lot of ta.l.k about an 10BII at the t:tme but nobotIT knew quite how to 

build it, so We put the em;pba.sis in THOR and JUPITER. Those 'Were two 

duplicatitlg prograD:18 that went on concurrently. The M!IIr:I bad proba.bly 

done the most adV8JlCed YOrk -- by hav.lng Wernher Von b.un. Th~ bad done 

more th:1nld.ng a.bout rockets, a.nd, they bad worked 'With Redstone, so the 

Antt:I real.lT b8.d. a leg up. 111e.Air Force wanted to get into the business 

very ba.dq, and that wa.s through THOR. You financed both THOR and JtJPITER 
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with the idea that you would eventually select one of them, partlcularl;y 

after the leIN Prosraa didn't seem. to be developing. 

END OF TAPE FOUR 

.BEXJlINIDG OF TAPE FIVE 

.MCIm.IL: The NaVY' jOined the ArrrJy in order not to be left out. '!bey knew 

as well a,s you and 1 sitting right here that they were not going to go 

ahead with liquid ~gen in the cOnfined space or a submarine. They knew 

damn vell they weren t t. They kept, their bands in ~he prograa until they 

could find some way to develop soUd fuel missiles, a.nd, Of course, that 

wa.s the basis for Polaris. So, yes, there was increased emphasis but as 

far as the total budget was concerned it wasn't a huge percentage. I am 

not sure it you look back if we didn't take same airplane money fo~ that. 

It was a.ll in one procurement account. 

HOFFMAN: Would you say that the top officials in the Defense Department 

and the Administration were as unnerved by Sputnik as the rest of the 

country? I understand Wils~n wasn't. He allegedly made one of bis 

typical remarks when he said it was a good trick -- we could do 1 t ao;rt1me. 
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yet 1 t bad an· enol"lllOUs psychological impact on the' cow:rtry. I wOnder it 

this was felt as much Within Mmin1strat:1on? 

MCNEIL: Not as much, no. 

HOli'FMAN: They took more heat from Congress afterwards, of course. COn-

gres~ r.eversed caa;pletely once again, and went from call1I18 for restrs.1.nt 

to empbasiziI18 the need tor a much greater spendiI18 program. Were you 

surprised that the Soviets could do tba.t1 

MCNEIL: I think it was a. surprise to SODle peop1e,.alld some people thought 

they were probabq developi,OS' something but they· had no proof of 1 t. I 

would stq' there was no panic. I don't reca.ll an:r panic. 

HOFFMAN:. '!he concurrent msn1e development, of course, had been going 

on prior 'to Sputnik. 

MCNEIL: Yes, but the Air Force was strual1ns desperately to set into 

the lII1ssile business. They 'Were doing sane work on it, no question. As 

a matter of' tact, they were almost neck and neck a.t the end of six months, 

0.8,1 remember it. We act'\l8l.l:;y' c1idn.'t carl'1 the progt'U). too fe.r e.1.thoush 

we did seDd a few to Turkey. And a.:t'ter several years ATLAS came along. 
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HOFFMA.N: What about NAVAHO? That had been cut out Just a bit earlier. 

. , 

MCNEIL: NAVAHO, yeah. That 'W&s the winged m:1asile, wasn't it? That was 

a tough one to cancel, too. 

HOFFMAN: I was surpr.1sed. that NAVAHO was cut. I was surprised when I 

came across it because in man;r ot the reports that came traD. your ottice 

the argument 'W&S to cut SNARK and continue NAVAHO. I llave :;Looked and I 

'haven't quite figured out yet w~ this recommendation was reversed. Tb.ey" 

continued SNARK until 1962. 

MCNEIL: It 'Wasn't done right. We wasted money on the m:1ssile business, 

but -- I suppose we would do it again it we ~ to -- do it all over. 

ltOFFMA.!l: It was always the insurance argument tba.t prevailed. I know 

it'must have driven people crazy to get duplications of systems. You 

get 15 different milita.r,r systems to do one .job. You would like t.o say, 

well let t s just have one system, 'that t S enough. 

MCNEIL: All we cou1d do was centralize the arguments. One manufacturer 

would come in and Se:'/' ~ha.t the other gua" s produCt isn't art3' gOOd. Or 

we would go down to research and developm.ent., they bad ditterent ideas. 
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We vould talk to ArIq research people, and so forth, and thq would get 

, ' 

cont1dent1al and'tell you what was wrong 'With the competition. I think. 

you have to keep those channels open -- sitt out the cba:f':f.' -- and 

g1 ve the rest. of it to the boss to make the final decision. In research 

you frt!tQ.uently can't get a decision, because l)eople just don't know e!lough a~ , 

it, even the experts. In fact, it was an outsider that cOnvinced me that 

th~ Pershing missile was feasible} John B. McCat11ey. Be used to be 

Eresident of Esso Research. I used to have lunch with him about once or 

twice a week. I was right across the ball tram him, and we went down and 

spent some time with two or three of' his stat~ and. that was reall¥ why 

I told Ike that there was a possible substitution for Redstone. Redstone 

just wasn't feasible, but it kept the .A1:IIq in business a.:nd it kept Von 

Bt-a.un Occupied. Incidental.l.y, Von Bl:!'aun is with us in Fairchi~d at the 

manent. I see him fiNery week. or so. He is a pretty good guy. They asked 

me at Fairchild what I thought about hiring Von 'Br:'aun.? I told them I 

thou8b:t it was a good idea, but I didntt think they" cau.ld atfor4. him. 

Arter dee.llDg 'With X-teen bil.l.ions, etc., etc., in Hun:t;srllls, how do 

i I 
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. you get h1.m into a. little ca:r.t.P&D;Y 'Where s. Dd.llion dolla.rs is s. lot ot 

~oney? B.tt do you know, he is stingier than the rest at ue? . He r~ is. 

HOJ.1i.MA1l: Of course, the . krm:r did have experience' in t:ra.nsport1ns hea:vy 

Dlisslles. At least they were supposed to have been l'Ugging around the 

CORPORAL in Bu:rope a:04 I know it W8.S B. pretty big piece of equilllent. 

It vas 81lPPC?Sed to bave been deploy-edt 

MCNEIL: They al.~ talked about solid tuei, but they coul.dn't make it 

work, because they didn't bave enough push per ~ Which is the W¥ 

I would describe it. F1ne.lly, they did get it so there was enoush push 

:for pound. It made Polar1s teasible. 

lIOFFMAN; One more question in this regard -- in 1959. • • 

MClmIL: I lett in November at 1959 when Ike bad. a. year to "go. I guess 

I was gettins to be. old and I vas damn near broke, too. 

HOFFMAN: The stlggestion has been made that it the Arm:! bad not sOtlght 

to rem&ke itself' into an atomic torce but had instea.d stuck to its more 

traditional. role it might '.bave actuaJ.l;y been better off. 

MCNEIt.~ Well, the big change in the .Arm3' -- I can't identify it -- I 
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can't recall the exact date but the.Armv,· for a long time, was committed 

to a moderate size regul.&r A:rltq with the expansion under war time eondi-

tions to 100-105 Divisions, that sound right? 

HOfFMA.'H: Wartime -- 85, I think:. 

MCNEIL: 85, well as I remerilber it, it vas 100 divisions or thereabouts, 

wi th the result, that the:r had their damn force scattered eo tbin around 

the country on a base structured for e:x:pansion, that the,y had nothing to 

shoot With. The big p.oblem was tryi!18 to get the A:I!tIt:r, it was not the 

.A.rlY.\Y'ts idea Incldental4r, to take about four divisioJl8 of their so-called 

eight or ten division force, and make it a reaQy' force -- as reail¥ as the 

Marine Corps brags about. 'l'bat was the most important change in the Ar1r(f, 

because it took a long time to get the Artrs:r down to a reasonable :figure 

tor mobilization potential. A tremendous ettort went into gett1:gg the 

J..rfIJ:r to recast its mobilization structure. 

Ho.F1I'MA1i': There was always a conf'lict between the .Arm:!, :Navy and the Air 

Force over the mohi11zatiOl1 base. I do not th1nk: it was EWer quf. te re-

solved as to whether it was gp1ng to be a six month mobilization base, 
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a tbree month mobilization base or a three week mob1lization base. 

MCltl!:IL: Tbat's true. Tbe knti was really gOing way overboard. ll:rt they' 

developed their atrborne divisions, I remember, down at ]i'ort Bl:'a.gg 8.I.Id -

they- fin.ally got to about four divisions that were, what we call ready, 

1n Marine· Corps terminology. In tact the .A'1!rIT9" s tour reeA;\r divisions 

were the bi!Mest threat to Marine Corps. Yea, the ArIIIa' wanted to take 

over the Mi.rines tor years. They- didn t t have e. pre,yer as long as they 

were following that mobilizat·ion philosop!w' because they had nothing to 

shoot with. ::&1t once they stal"ted those four or five rea~ divisions the 

Marine Corps was forced to look to i t8 tail. 

HOFFMAN: You wouldn't baTe l1ked that. I gather tbat you e.lwa;y,8 trusted 

the Ml.rine Corps. You bel1eved that the1 knew how to _t.ch their dollars 

and llIll1ke the. other Services, 'Where you placed a tighter rein, you were 

really more fle:xi ble with the lSrine Corps budget • 

MCNEIL: That's right w_ by' nature they were a thrifty outfit. 

HQFl.I'MAN: I noticed that. 

MCNEi:L: Whether itt s rugs on the floor or what not. For e:x:am;ple, they 
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bought about one hUlldred thousand ties from the Air Force for l7¢ __ 

cost about 50¢ new and the Air Force didn't Uke them - .. they werentt" 

quite the right shade. The ~ne COrps bOUSht thel'.11 tor l7¢. "SUr.e, if" 

you -bad children wouldn't :rou Judge them. tbe. same wa;y? If they were thrift:r, 

:rou wou1dn' t check them quite so carefully. They bad fewer rugs on the 

floors aiId watched their telephone bills to a 8I"eater extent. Joe 

McNarnet, did you ever hear of JOe Mclarney'l He used. to be the rrumber 

2 man in the War Depe.rtment during the. war? 

HOFFMAN: Yes. 

MORElL: And later he vas president of Convair. He vas in the Pentagon. 

He had four stars a:t the time &r.Id he and I were given the job by Louis 

Johnson to go tbrough and see what activities we could cha.nge to develop 

a system of more detai1ad plarming. So we held what might be eaUed 

hearings for a month or so. We sat down every ~ and the services I 

salesmen would try' and. sell us on their ideas. The Marine Cor,ps bad 

a quartermastEJl' tor :rears -- quite a gu;y-. He had been quartermaster for 
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years, 8lld vas not subject to the uSual rotation ever'3" tbree years, so 

he bad been around about 30 ye8rs. And, Pete, I'I8Ile Pete sometbing' --' I 

knew Pete pretty well. Joe McNs.rney didn't know him. $) we got down t'o 

a point, and tina~ We walked across the hall and Joe McNarney said, 

"listen, we have squeezed these people ha.rd enough, we have gone far 

enoufth." "lio," I said, ''we bavenlt gone fer enough yet. You know, II 

I said, "just look at Pete -- if he starts to perspire, we have done all 

we dare do. Bu:t we haven't reached that point ;ret .because tbat gu;y bas 

got stuff squirreled away all over the world. II When he sta:rted per-

spiring that night, we quit. 

CONDIT: Di4 you take the McNarney comm:Lttee, the Management Committee, 

very seriouslyl 

MCNEIL: ,Yes, but it was just a one-time-QVer a.ff&1r. 

-j ...... 

CONDIT: I see. Did you teel that it rea.lly achieved very ~ efficiencies? : 
, \ 

MCNEIL: Ho. It acbieved more cutbacks tbe.n 1 t' did efficiencies. Eti'1ciency,' 

some stations were closed as a result that should have been closed, yes. 

COMlIT: Were some closed that should not have been closed? 
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MCNEIL: Ferha.ps. I doubt it though. Right at that time" the big job 

was getting things 'back: under control again. Because when you have a 
; ...... 

" 

wartime a:t'f'air, with forts and warehouses all. aver, in ~ county seat 

and town all over. the nation, you, have to do something. YOU are going 
, 
I 

to make some mistakes, but you have to squeeze it down somewhere. , I 

CONDIT: Il1dnt t that McRarrley' Committee become the ltimagement Co.mm:ittee 

for a look at the internal OSD organization: 

MCNEIL: I don't tbink they did very much in tbat tor OSD. For the 

Department as a whole, yes. They real~ had two things. McBarney had 

the :management cOlJlll1 ttee, then we did things sepa::ratelF at the sme time. 

For example, the new wind tunnel down in Tullahoma, Tennessee. Joe and 

I spent three or four Qa,ys on that one. I d.on't know 1t we iUd it in his 

capacity as management c01llD1ttee or we· did it separately. No, I would 

Ba1 the, management cOEittee did the two. 

HOFFMAN: Talldng about reorga.niza.tion, -- how would. you assess the 

importance of the 1953 reorganization? 

MCNEIL: Roekef'eller, let me see. That didn't change things too much, it 
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changed the t1 tle8 !lOre tban anythtng else. Where you called someone the 

Chairman of the Munitions lbard he was now called the Assistant Secretal"7 

for Bupp11es. I didn't think it made too much differenoe. The same held 

true for the Research and Development brd. We had him there before --

bad the medical too -- so tbat didn't ahaDge too much. Nor ~d it chellge 

the pb1lospJ:w' of operation. :art on the other band the McNamara approach 

and what the N&vy has done rece~ is real~ terrible I think. There 

. was a. time when the Navy had the lousiest lOOking organization chart but 

the best organization I know at because you had the supplier and the user 

in competition, which I think is very healthy'. In ·other words J1)u bad 

the user, which vas the fleet, and the shore staff which was the support. 

The user would al~s complain about the inadequacies at the supporting 

establishment. .And. the supporting establishment wou1d always com;plain 

about the 'UlU"e8sonable reqUirements and deraand, of the operating force. 

Bu.t that' s precise~ the sort of tension you a1W8\Y"s want to keep. The 

Navy has lost it, the Arr.rq never had it, and the Air Force r~ baan It 

t. . I 

-" 

got it either. With M3Namara' e changes we now have three pyramid structures, 
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so it is bard for an opPoSiDg view to get ci:r:'cul.s.tion within, s.DV Of the 

services. TO the extent that the Air Force can have 8. detective force 

ferreting 'Out alternative ideas .... you might compensate for part Of tbe 

wealmees -- but it doesntt replace a qstem of internal Qhecks and bala.N:!ea. 

Let. me give you another example. In 1946 the Gover_ent was getting 

to a point where they wanted to change the frequencies with whicb you 

could use comm.unications. Oertain ultra-high frequencies vere being used 

by Ws.v.r which had to be turned over to the public ~ The ORO wrote a memo-

randum to the Blreau of the tips directing them to PJ:"'OC-ure cqstals and 

sO forth, for the whole fleet. 'lbe Bureau ot fIlips didn't have enotlgh 

money, so I,.et the Cbief Of the Bureau of Ships in the hallW8¥ one day 

s.nd he snd, tldo you know what that aam:n McNarney is dOing?" . I told him. 

I would meet McNa.rney. We did a.n4 within an hour ve agreed on a five 

.year program to replace the equipnent wb1ch 'WaS feasible. Under &. pyram1d 

structure, things Uke that would be burled. So, I think the Forrestal 

philosoplW' ,of organiza.tion is by far the best, but I don't think we will 

ever get back to it -- barring another war. 

101 

Pag~ determined to be Unclassified 
ReVIewed Chief, ROD, WHS 
lAW EO 13526. Section 3.5 
~ate: MAR 0 6 lOl •. 

• f 

i 
~, I 

f 



t , •. ,:, _, ,_ --'-__ •. 

HOFFMAB: M8¥be I lUll not as clear on Forrestal as I should be but how 

would you define the Forrestal pbilosp~ of organization? 

MCNEIL: Well, the develo:pment of baving the support or the supply and .. 

lOgistics f'lmction in competition with the user. 

HOFFMAN: That's yaur idea, that's not Forreste.l's. 

MCNEIL: 'Well. • • 

HOFfMAll: You are giving credit where credit isn't due, I think. 

MCNEIL: Easy to sell. 

HOFFM'AN: No, tbat is def'iD1teq your philosplJy". 

MCNEIL: Fo:r:restal just didn't put the words on it but that was bis philo-

soPba". That I S were I learned it. 

CONDIT: He bought it from you. 

MCNEIL: 'No, he descrtbed it in better terms than. I could though I don't 

think he ever wrote it out on paper. 

CONDIT: Wb;y did he, search you out in t~ ver:r beginning? 'Why' did be bring 

you alcmg to the OSD'l 

MCNEIL: Accidents bappen! 'lbe first time I :met Forrestal. was in 194.3· 

Page determined to be Unclassified 
Reviewed Chief, ROD, WHS 
lAW EO 13526. Section 3.5 

102 Date:, 11M 0 6 281. 

I 
I 

-I 

I , 
J 



'-l!..LL. •. ___ _ 

I had a difference of opinion with the Naval Air people who bad an ampbi_ 

bious gl1der program. I had taken a look at it, and didn l t l1ke tTle looks 

of it. lJ(r job then was disbursing officer for the lilvy, which I wasn't-

qua.lified for either. So we had this argument and he told me to come up 

w:Lth a revised program in a few dqs. We met again, and Forrestal approved 

it, and tha.~ was the end of th&t. 

lfow, I Will tell 1'ou another st01"1' A little while later" Forrestal 

invited lI1e to lunch one c'la\r, I think 1942 or .1943. I had cae down on a 

bus that mer Ding and had read the :New ~ Herald Tribune. Farrestal bad 

been out the night before and bad made a speech on the civil Service, 

cOmpa.ring it to the :Br:-itish e;rstem. I rea.d the darn thing gOillg down; 

I know no more about the civil service than the man in the moon. Or the 

Bt-1tish system. I did bave the a4va.rrbage of ;-ead1ng t:bat column that 

morning. So when he asked me a cOuple of questions, I answered. Well, 

it was strictly accident. I had developed. a couple of ideas though that 

Forresta1 finally' approved; so he created the post called. the Flscal. D1rector 

of the Navy in 1944. He asked me if I would take off the Uniform to do it, 
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and I told him no, that I didn' t want to take off the unifom. He wrote 

me 8. note to wear civilian. clothes when I chose. That liaS the solution at 

the moment. 

HOFFMAN: M!Qr'be he just dian' t 'Want :rou to go back to ~ ~bington ~. 

D1d Forrestal give :rou the name "Grq Em1nence?fI 

MClEIL: Which 'I 

HOF'F.MAN: In the Pentagon :rou were referred to at times as the ltGr8\Y 

mainence. 1f Ma;ybe that was something no~ told ;you abou19 but I came 

across that term. as a code name far :rOUe 

HOF.I1MAB: The "Gray lbinence. It 

MCNEIL: Nobod;y ever 8.ccused me of being an eminence. 

HOFFMAN: Oh well, it 'Ifas °80 term that I found when ~le were referring 

to you. It suggested, in clea.r~ .r.espect:tul. tones, :rO'lJr authorit:r_ 

MCNEIL: r think I heard it one time, 'but I don I t know. Act'UAlly'.. I don' t 

think we did ~b1ns tb8.t wasn't a reasonably' decent translation of' what 

the boss would do. I don't think: we dre~ed up 8.'!19' ideas of Om" own, at 
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least not too much. We saw something, we would develop it, but we 

didn't write reports :for 8l'\Y' of 1118' bos&~s, as such. I went to see' hiin 

about saneth1Jlg and .maybe he wQuld wi te a memorandum on it. I have one 

right here that I just brought along as an 1dea. Here is one I wrote, no it 

wa's for Admiral. Sberma.n. The o~ reason I wrote tb&t was because Sherman I s 

secreta17 ~s gone. I wrote it and sent a copy' to tbe Secretary so he 

could oall me down if he didn't like it. This' was the one on the force 

structure of the NavY that I told you a.bout earlier. . . 
CONDIT: What about Mr. Gerlock, was he a helpful person? 

MCNEIL: Yes, he was not a great thinker but he was a:w1"ul.ly good on 

execution.· Terrific capacity for work, pretty sa:vvy, and he was good. 

He was good. 

CONDIT: Who else ws helpful '1 

MOBEIL: Oh, gol.l:y, I had 30 or 110 ot ths that were good. That was what 

I was ~ng before you came in this noon; I 'Was lucq that I had some 

aw:t"ul.ly good people. z.t; job was being a catalyst amonc some ver,r bright 

people. 

105 

Page determ,ned to be Unclassified 
Reviewed Chief, ROD, WHS 
IAYI EO 13528, Section 3.5 
~3te: lIAR 0 8 20ft 

·1 



, j,t 

CONDIT: Well, who selected tbose people? 

MCNEIL: We all did. 

CONDIT: You hired them? 

McaL: We all did. Somebody is bright., brings in somebOdy e1se who 

is bright. 

HOFFMAN: M'a¥be I 'am wrong about this, but I get the impression t'hat 

during the budget prooess f!/V'e:q ;year, and especially' at the big tent 

. 
shows, something 'WaS always rigged. J!Bch;yee:r the services would come 

in and present their ca.ses. You were alway's cast in the ro1e of' the Devil' s : 

Advocate, of cutting below where ;you knew in ta.ct the tinal +igu:re would 

end up. .Md Secretary Wilson could then play' the role of good fellow 

because he would always give them a little .,re, but I'm certain that 

you both worked out tnat figure before and knew precisely where you were 
., 

going. 

MCEEIL: I 1ma.gine he put the :rigure' in before we started. 
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ROFFMA1l: IHt he had to get the figure from 'You! 

MCNEIL: Well, JDBTbe. I didn t t tell 'You a.bout his trouble with the 

I ... 

eba.pla.in, did I? 

CONDIT: The Chapla.in? 

MCNEIL: The Cha.pl.s.1n. We were bav1D6 one 00£ these tent shows a.nd the 

A:rm:! had about 40 Generals and 50 Colonels present. Lovett and. I were 

sittiD6 a.t the head ta.ble a.nd we were going through the .l\r'm;y'1 s request 

and 1hvett said, "low we Will listen to the Chapla.in Corps. n Someone 

said to JIle, "*,e, 10£ we cut e.n;y mone,y' out of the Chaplain Corps it will 

come out of bibles and sacram.errte.l wine." The ".lor General of Chaplains: 

got up and said, "Let us pra::r." There were about a humred. people in 

the room but after he quit praying 'You could have heard a pin drop. 

There was absolute silence . for _. oh, 10 seconds or 15, although it 

seemed 11ke a couple of minutes. Then he finally sa.i~, "You bow l'.IV ~-- -< 

frame was never built for a. eMir like this. If That broke the ice, 

everybo~' laughed and that was the end of' the incident. I remelUber it, 

"Let us pray." 
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Bldget decisions certainly were not made ~lateral.l¥ and' in 

the dark. I used to arrange' f'or the Chief of' Staff aDd the Secretary - , . 

of the service to go see Wilson, Lovett, or even the President if they 

didn t t like it. In:f'a.ct, I fOrced Max '1'aylor, ~hen he began crying 

a.bout some things, to go see the President. The President rtrtua.lq 

threw him out. 

HOFFMAN: Considered him a paroehial general, huh? 

. 
MCNEIL: Ma.x Taylor was a.,wonderf'ul guy, but he is hard ot hearing. He 

would agree to things and then go back and the Generals and Colonels 

would say J "You mean l"OU agreed to that 1" Next day he would meet with 

the Cha1~ and the Joint Chief's a.nd say, "I didn f t agree to that." 

He 'hadn't heard it. About six weeks before Ra.dt'ord retired, Twining 

came in to see me and he said,. "Mae, you have known Ra.d~ for years, 
;-- ,:; 

came :from the S8D1e hQne town and SO forth, will. you do something for 

us'l Life,lI he said, !fis unpl.easant down here because of Ra.dt'ord a.nd 

Taylor. They are at odds the minute they come throush the door." I I 
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said I klnd· of agree with Radford, but I'll go see what I aan do. So 

I went down to see Radford, and he said, "Yes, I know all about it. If 

"Well," I said, "you have onl¥ got six weeks before you retire, so wbiY 

don·t you be nice to Max? Besides, II I said, "what difference does it 

make? II So, I went back and told Twining I did Jl'.\Y best but I didn't 

know if it 'would work or not. A month later Twin1136 became Cb.a.1rman of 

the Chiefs, and about two months after that he came in and put his feet 

on the desk. "Mae, II he said, "1 am awful sorry I got you into this. 

I now think after having been Cba:lrma.n and dealt with Max for a Ii ttle 

while, I thipk Radford is the 1lJ)st tolerant man in the nation." 

CONDIT: The most tolerent man in the nat10n~ Well, Taylor reaJ.ly must 

have been difficult. 

MCNEIL: Taylor and his wife are the most delightful folks in the city 

of Washington, both then am now. lttr wife and they play card~ regularl¥. 

He is pretty good. He has learned a lot in the last 10 years. 

ActualIY, most of his troubles With those senior to him stem 

from his oei136 hard Of hearing a.nd not we.nting to wear a hearing aid. 
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Ba.eie8.lly, though be is a ve"1!1' nice person. He is smart. He can speak 

a number of languages. He a.ccepted his duty in Korea in Korean, in GerJDa.:a;r 

in German. He is quite a. student. 

ROFFMAN: Is the.t right? I never rea.lized that. 

McmL: He alWB3"s keeps himself in shape; he looks like a. soldier. 

/ 

As a 'West Pointer he was a. good superintendent. . 

HOFFMAN: Bow would you c0m.p8.re him with Ridgwa:y'Z 

MCNEIL: Well,' they are entirel¥ ,different people •• At 8. desk I wouldn't 

pay Ridgway much mind, but wa.lld.ng around the 38th para.llel with a. grenade 

swing! ng he was agnifiaent. 

HOFFMAN: Just wa.sn't aut out to be a. planner. 

MCNEIL: Yes, not s. planner. 

comT: He is s. combat general. 

MCNEIL: Yeah, he was like Blll Halsey. At s. desk Halsey w8.sn t t much 

of an operator. 

END OF TAPE '5 

BBlINNING OF TAPE 6 (MCNEIL) 

no 
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MCNEIL: You aJ;ways bave to think 01' wbs.t ld.nd 01' Jobs these men can 

perform best. We have e. fUnr.r,y' bs.bit in America of thinking somebody who !'; . 

can run 55 yards for a touchdown on 6eturda,y can do everything -- that 

is not always true. 

HOFFMAN: In the Wilson period you get a distinct impression of Ridgway', 

Taylor, Radford, Tw:1n1D8. What about Carney? 

MCNEIL: Smart little Irishman. He was in cbarge of the Dlrty 'lrieks 

. 
Department far N:1m1 tz out in the PaQif1e. And he was pretty gOOd at 1 t --

pretty good at it. M1ck 'W&S all right" he was not one of the great 'Chiefs 

of .. val. O;perat10ns. He had been with Nlmitz. He bad a good following,. 

probably not as much as Halsey, but he was pretty popular with the f~eet. 

And on the whole be was a pretty good CNO. Bu.t he didn r t do anything 

to establish a basis for the future. He was not effective as far as a 

thinker, planner I etc. but he was Ii good operator. 

Nimitz was 'great from tbe sense that -. well take N1mltz in contrast 

to tG.ng. I knew lf1ng. I had the privelge of working with him for some 

time. He was extremely able; he knew the details of every engine J 
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technice.lJ::r, he knew hie business. And he was a ver.,. dogged·indiv1dua.l •. 

When he knew something, be stuck to it. Bat his staff was detinitel¥ 

second rate, not eompetent. Bow Nimitz was just the opposite. When he 

went to the Pac~tic and later beeame Chief ot Uaval Operations, every 

one ot his senior staft 'WaS Chairman of the' Chiets or the ONO. Nob~ 

that worked for King ever got the top job. Every'bod¥ who worked for 

N:IJQ1 tz was on top because he selected them. carney was one, Fecbteler 

was one, Sherman, who was probe.bl¥ the emartest of the entire generation. 

Those were the type of people that Nlmi tz had around him N1m:l tz then 

became the judge. One morning I bad an idea. I wanted to try to sell. 

Nimitz asked, lIW1ll it take 'tOO long? Will'You come in Sa.tur~'l" I 

said, uSure. II fb he got to Be.df'ord, Sherman, Carney', Fechte1eJ:; and 

that morning I laid out "tq' story. They asked questions for an hour or 

two. They didn't like· it verr well, none Of them. lIJ1m1tz didntt say 

one damn vord for three hours, except tap his finger about like tbat. 

At the end of three hours he said, "Mac, you are quite a se,les_n, tha.nk 

you-gentlemen, II and tha.t was the end of the show. So he e.1~s kept the 
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rigbt peopl~ around him. AJ3 I sa:y, he beeBDle the judge between the ideas 

'promoted by severe.l very' br:i.ght people. Like Carne,', carne,' was bright. 

Feehteler was an old salt, salty seaciog. The kind you a,lW8¥s read about. 

Again out in ~ when he _13 there h,e bad Sherman and Hadford and 

his staff. All day he listened to the a.rgum.erits about the next day's striKe 

at Honeb.u. Finally' as COOImaIlder he said, "Gentlemen, I think I would 

send two- carriers, not four;, and I tb1nk that would be accurate. 'I'bank 

you very' mooh Gentlemen," and tba.t was the end of the discussion. No 

commands, no squads right, sqll4ds left. That's wl:13" Nimitz was one of 

the really great CNOs. 

ROFFMAN: Under the New Look, th~ Ntivy did pretty well considering the 

general orientation of the ph11oso~ and the fact that it was somewhat 

d1 vided wi thLn 1 tself, with R1ckover and his supporters fighting the 

rest of the Navy establlsbmeDt. 

MCNEIL: Rickover did a good Job, but he takes credit for several things 

" wh~re others sbould be given. credit. The :&Jrea.u of Sb1ps, for example, 

. was the ageney wbich developed the idea of cutting the first seven attack 
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submarines in two and putting in a ma. bod,y. That concept d14n't ~ome from 

Rickover. R1ckover t s program. was adV&IlCed probabli two to three years, 

but sOlIlebocq e.lse had the idea of putting a mid body in seven attack 

submarines. We got Iblaris in there awfully fast. In fact, that program. 

probabq is the model for all big programs for the future. Adm:l.ral Raborn 

did a beautiful Job on that one. Kept his headquarters staff to about 

45, used all the available skill ~ talent 1n the country. They were 

. 
all pepped up. No big program ever came along so fast, so cheap, and 

gOt action ao quickly and. has been sO successful. 

Raborn came down. one ~ and said, "Mac, I am in trouble. We just 

bad a test yesterdar and the nozzles, which had orig1nallv been developed 

for the liquid fuel missUe, burned out in less than a minute. r said 

to the scientists what the hell happened? Tbe scientists appe.rentq 

didn't figure out or didn't realize tbat the nozzle temperatUre for solid 

o 0 k." 1 ·fue1 was 7,000 instead of 3,500. It burned out 00 quic. I sa d, 

lIean you get it fixed?" He said, "I hope so." "what about the people 
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who l118de the mistake in the first place 1" He said, "oh, I would like 

to try' them, but I have got su others I would like to put into' buSiness. If 

"HOW much is it going to cost?/t He saId, "About 10 million each. II I 

saidl "That t S an awful lot of money, just to correct an error a.nd I don f t 

have that much in the petty cash draw, but I will go and see the boss." 

I went to Wilson and he sa1d, ttWell, Why don't you go abe&d and fix it?" 

Okay, I weJ.ked out and. told Red to get going. It didn't take very" much 

to fix 1 t, but there I s a case where you had to make a quick j'lldgment. 

If you stall the thing 90 days you really have a bill on your bAnds 

because your one-hulld:red million month overhead continues regardless, 

plus you r re not getting the right system. So there was a case where 70U 

couldn1t spend. too much to get that tbiDg fixed and fixed quick -- assumins 

you could get 1 t fixed. That 'WaS something Wilson would get in 10 sec" 

onds l!''here sanebod:y else might take a month to try' and figure it out. 

Be recognized that the minute you have a hitch your overhead goes on and 

you canlt stop it even though all your productive work stops. 1IWbat 

are 700 telling me tor," he said, rlgo f'ix it. IIfag~ determined to be Unclassified 
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lIOFFMAB: It is interesting that 1,n the 19508 you should have :paraJ.lels 

witbin the services. In the Air Force you had the continental defense 

mission which never generated s.ny' real enthusia.sm as opposed. to the 

strategiC bombing concept. , Similarly, much of the llla:9')" was never 

really' enthusiastic' about submarines &s compared. with its surface ships. 

This suggeSts that you must have civilian direction to insure tbat the 

services pursue the intended. direction. 

MCJEIL: With the pyramids they have todq, the service secretaries don't 

exercise much authority. ,It hurts me veI7 much to see those positions 

downgraded. 

BOFFMAN: 'l'bey are really downgraded now. 

MCNEIL: It is terrible, terrible. Mtddendorf is nothing but a salesman. 

Be runs around with a briefcase selling something; he hasn't managed the 

NaVY'-

CONDIT: lbt wasn I t the start of 1 t right from the very beginning of 

unification! 

~NEIL: Very shortly afterwards, yes. It has been weakening over the 
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last 20 years. 

COBDIT: The moment they were out Of the Cabinet, it seemed to me it -began. 

MCNEIL: That 1 S correct, the :Bureau of the atdget and • • • • Marx Lev& 

saw things quite differently' than I did. When he was in the J)!ps.rttnent 

of Defense, he sold Truman on the idea, and Forrestal probably didn't 

fiSht it quite as strongly' as be would have five years earlier. That was 

when they figured he wasn t t feeling too well. Forrestal believed in a 

pretty' strong A3!f.rJq', Navy and Air Secretary •. In other words, you would 

have a holding com.pe.ny with three great, strong operating companies. 

And what you do is tie the three tosether. I wish we would set back to 

that sometime. P..L"obably can't. OBD has taken too much of' it. 

CONDIT: Well, with tlle Secretary Of Defense having all. this control over 

budget .-

MCNEIL: He has alW8¥s had that. 

CONDIT: Yes, but it is one of' the other factors that has been p.la..y1ng 

along with the lesseni1'lg of' the Se.rv.ices' roles ... the Service Secretaries' 

roles. 

l,17 
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MCNEIL: Well, the Service Secretary' gets aomeone to give him two or 

three trips, and he gets the band played a little bit, and he makes 'a 

.. 
speech or two. It is bard to come heme ,and make tough decisions. 

HOF'Ji'MAl{: In the case of the Air Force and the Bav,y during the 19508, 

do you think the.¥' were forced to follow some of the programs they didn't 

want to pursue because of the strength ot the Secretaries 'I Is this what 

MCNEIL: I would say no, not. • • 

HOIi'J!'MAN: Did Quarl.es, for example, force the Air Force to pursue continent'a11 

defense intensi vel¥ whereas it would have preferred a acre graduaJ. approach. 

MC:NEIL: To a (legree, yes. Actual.ly, 1 said it first in reference more to 

the scores of decisiOns that you llake from Clay to dar, wher~ there are 

differences of views wi thin the Berv1ces. Under the P1re.m.id structure, 

\ 

Middendorf, t'or example, doesn't hear of the Na:vy's troubles. It used to be + "I 

the Secretary would hear of it wi thin minutes. So you bave two wqs to 

manage a big organization, one is to JII&tlB.ge by exception, which I would 

do, try to dO, and the, other try to run every detail. When I was President 

1.18 
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of Grace I didn't trr to run the wh,ole thiDgj . I tried to ri8 it so that 

the real troubles would all come up and hit me in the face the first, thing 

in the morning. 

CONDIT: Mr. l>t:Neil, as a resul.t of this discussion this afternoon, in 

wbicb you have sort 01' been reliving 12 years. 

MCNEIL: More than 12 ;rears. 

CONDIT: ••• of Os]) history, I wonder if ;rou would like to summarize the 

periods -- before Korea, during Korea, and the Wilson era. right after 

Korea. Ik> you see major changes or major trends going on during those 

three periods, either continui:og or cbangingt 

MCNEIL: I don't know bow to answer that, quite. Organizationally, I 

think ,the thing, of oourse, mc::rves. toward a more highly centralized Organ-

lzation and a lessening 01' the authQrit;r of the Service Secreta.ries. 

CotmIT: The continuing: trends througbaut all three peri ode I 1s tbat right t 

MCNEIL: Yes. 

CONDI'!': Do you see greater, efficiency as a continuing trend t 

No. 
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CONDI'l': 1):) you see each change of a.dm1D1stration as a place of ba.ck-

tracking and reiea.rn1ng and start1ng over again? 

MCNEIL: That will always be true. 

CONDIT: Necessarily? 

MCNEIL: Yes. 

CONDIT: Couldn't you save General Marsba.ll. from some problems because. 

you bad worked with Forrestal.? 

MCNEIL: That goes on all the time. Perhpas I dtdRtt understand. your 

question. l3Ut, I would sq that €!Nery new Secretary that comes in, 

€!Nery new Chairman of the Chiefs, or new Chief makes either the same or 

similar type mistakes when he comes, and probably in about the same number. 

_be different in character a little bit. 

Bopei'ul.ly, if one h&s BOtten sanething out of tbe National War College, 

th&t Yee:l.' is awfully valuabl.e, I think. I Sive Forrestal. credit for that 

one. The.ArrlJy' bad the war college before which was pretty good. I 

I 
think expanding that into a National War College was right. It wasn't the Ide8.j 
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of dOing, of the question you just raised. If' men go down there for a 

year under no responsibilities to report to a senior, they can be" free to 
;' 

think and to spend a year in association with Air Force, :Na;vy, A:r!JJq aria. 

other personnel. If: they then go to the ste.fi's, they will be much more 

competent to ass\DILe increased responsibility. I think it's been pretty 

good, although probably the benefit isn't tangible. I mean, you probably 

couldn't take a.ny' one i.udiv1dual and sa.y he is better. I am sure that 

is all you are dOing during peacetime in the military a.nywa.y -- teaching, 

learning, goieg to school, some kind of school. 

: 
CONDIT: Korea, I guess, was our first modern lim1ted war. Do you feel that i 

I 

people absorbed its lessons? Or did they draw the wrong conclusions when 

they went in l'or the strategic -coneePts--cil' the E1s8nbower period? 

MCNEIL: We didn t t learn we had to win a. war· if we started one! We 

4---' -.. 
didn't learn th&t we should win a. war 11' we get iuto one. 

CONDI'l': Should we win it '1 

MClEIL: We should have "WCIn it. 

CONDIT: Wbat would it have taken to win Korea.? 
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MCNEIL: We should have won -- 1 am think:1na about Indochina. 

CONDIT: Ob, Indochina is different. What about Korea? Should we have 

gone after China? 

MCNEIL: I think MacArthur was probably right. If we had bombed the suppl:y' 

depots within a hundred miles of the border, I don't think it woulc1 have 

hurt us very much. You see, we had 6. couple of people who didn' t want 

to use the A-bomb because they didn't think we had. enough of them. I 

say we didn't think we had enough of 'them at the tim.e. 

CONDIT: ~,actua.lly you su;pported the MacArthur thesis, that we have 

to win the .war. . 

MCNEIL: I am a.f'raid $0. 

CONDIT: Well, having taken the limited concept in KOrea, do you feel 

that was the proof tllat we would follow that in Indochina, tllat is, from 

the point of view of the other side? 

MCl'IEIL: I am S\lTe that was given some thought. 

CONDIT: We certainly did try to assure them 1:>y every means that we '.could 

that we were not going to extend the war .... the Kbrean war into China --. 
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we gave them eve'1!Y' assurance we possibly could. 

MCNEIL: With &11 the power we bad .. - a.nd 'we still lett Banoi and so forth 

intact 

CONDIT: What period are you talking about now, 19651 and so on? 

MCNEIL: And 1970. Once we got into it in a big VB.y', I think we should 

have tried to win the war. I think it could have been done. Without 

the 10,ss of 111'e we bad, without the expense. 

CONDIT: Do you think --

MCNEIL: MacArthur went ashore in Inchon. That 'W8.S okay. We could ba.ve 

gone ashore in Hanoi too. 

CONDIT: The beginnings of Vietnam were certainly' clearly started in 

1950-51. ar 1951 we were paying a third to a balf of the cost of the 

Indochina. war for the French. Acheson was ver,y strong for saving Indo-

ebiIl8. as I recall. 

MCNEIL: B1t he helped give a'ri:y South Korea! 

CONDIT: Well, wouldn't you have to sta.y with the idea of l1m1tlng war in 
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Korea it you maintained the limited mobilization base at home2 You 

were one of the people who suggested that limited mobilization b~se~ 

Wasn,tt there implicit in that limited mobll1zation base the idea that 

we would maintain a limit on the war in Korea? 

MCNEIL: I think we had enough. air power not to require a tremendous 

increased ·force over what we had. We left everything intact in North 

Korea. 

CONDIT: How did General Marshall view the situation in' Korea? Did he 

ever express a feeling! r understand General Marshall was very worried 

about the division between the American troops of the Eighth Ar'lrr3' and 

the American X Corps on opposite sides of the mountain in November of 

1.950, and of course it was right, atter the sta.rt of' our offend ve that 

the Chinese came in in great numbers and drove us back. MacArtbur then 

claimed that he bad forced the Chinese into a maneuver before they were 

ready. But even though we forced them into a maneuver when they weren 1 t 

ready, we still had to withdraw -- very fast, let us sa.y. And really, 

MacArthur was quite upset about the way things were going by the end of 

December. Now, why didn't Marshall say anything &head of time about those 
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MCNEIL: I can 't answer your question. 

CONnI'!: You didn't ever see any diSCUSsion of tha.t? Mr. Lovett 

suggested that when you have that kind of a cOlUlllAnder in the f1e~d, 

,you could fire him, but you cc:uldn't nitpick him. 

MCNEIL: That I s true. Of 'COUTS e, the .Artr:f¥ let MacArthur act like a 

spoiled child. MacArthur was an unusueJ. character. The.Army used to 

invite him to come for consultation, and he would lilEl¥ be was too busy. 

The ~ tinally got to the point where they would send out wires 

(this is not word-: by-word) saying - - if you. are not too busy, it Would 

be awfully nice to see you; if you could come in this direction in a 

. 
couple ot weeks, we would like to see you. They wouldn't say, "Report 

to Headquarters at 8 a..m. Monday. II Think Joe Collins would send a 

wire like that out to MacArthur? Of' course he wouldn t t ~ So be developed 

his own unitorm, his own cap. And he didn t t get spanked tor it, so Why 

shouldn't he go further' 

CONDIT: Well, he got spanked finally. Do you happen to know anything 

, 
I 

, I' 
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MCNEIL: .Only what I reed. 

: . 
CONDIT: I have heard that Marshall was-not quite so enthusiastic· 

as Mr. Truman said- he was· about the firing of MacArthur. ·Do you 

know anything about that? 

MCNEIL: All I know is that he agreed, cast some aspersions -- I 

don It knaw if they were vicious. 

CQNDIT : He ca.st some aspersion on MacArthur? 

MCNEIL: Yes. M.acArthur. He said, as I heard or read it, that he 

agreed with Truman's a.otion -- I think it is time we got rid of the 

S.O.B. Just what I read. That's not first-hand. 

HOFFMAN: Well, talking about personalities, you were so cl~se to Secretary 

, 
.~ ! 
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Wilson, what were his opinions of, SCIIle of the others, of Dulles fOr example? 

MCNEIL: Be and Dulles got along quite well. Dulles came over qu:t,te, often. 

60 did Hum,phrey. That triumvirate we a pretty strong group of people. 

They didn t t necessarily a.1l agree on everything but Ike depeDdM quite 

a bit on each of the three. I don't know i1' they ever operated as 

a clique. I know whenever Humphrey- came over for lunch there was no 

question as to what he believed in. He spoke right out. But he always 

did it nicely. Dulles was a. bit scholarly --

HOll.FMAll: Wilson, how would you characterize 'W1lson in compa.r1son 1 

MCDIL:Well, a8 I said, aboot f!tIIery five minutes, he would come out 

with sODlet;bing like -- like dr1nking water out of' a fire l:JiYdrant. One 

time, he got into an , argument with Senator Bam. Er'v':i:n from North 

Ca.rolina. Senator Ervin told e. little story which he had actually got 

. i'r01Il Wilson. He said, "Remember what the mama. wb&le said to the ba.by 

. Whale': you onl:y' get the harpoon when you are spouting. II 

CONDIT: He is unforgetable. 

MCNEtL: Just one after the other. The Mule I S story is one Of the best. 
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Farmer lost a JIDlle and found a rope. But he would ss.y something like 

that you know which would give a pretty good s'WlI!nal'y to a. very com-

pl1cated situ&tion. 

CONDIT: He had a marvelous bomespun quality, despite ~hich I suspect 

be was 'a very sophisticated man. 

MCNElL: He wa.s a very practical. individual.. He invented the self-

starter. Married his secretary, Miss Jess;ie. She's quite a gal. She 

stood up for Erwin. 

CONDrr: She stood up to Eisenhower. 

MCNEIL: That's what I mean, sure. About DuJ.J.es? Sure. She is a. nice 

ga.J.. She wasn't a martinet. She was a little noisy, but not the Martha 

Hi tchell type. 

HOFFMAtf: Sb.e probably could sing, because I know a man who was in a 

veterans ' hospital. when Secretary Wilson and Mrs. WiJ.son eame to, vis! t. 

She serenaded the troops. 

MCNEIL: Probably sang the face on the barroom. 1"1.001'. But tbe peculiar 
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part 'of Wilson is I am not sure he, wouldn I t place as much weight on 

the views of the Sergeant who sat at the'desk outside his office as 

the four st8.l' General who came in earlier or later. That is probably 

, not a correct statement. 

HOFFMAtf: Probably' true of Kyes -- he didn I t seem to cat!e for general.s. 

MCNEIL: Kyes was a different person eJ..together. He had one real 

talent and that was how to place machines and people to increase 

production. He was good at that. He was only in the Pentagon for a 

short time. 

HOFFMAN: He said he did a lot of cutting wb:iJ.e he was there. No, not 

much? More smoke than fire? 

MCNEIL: Not much. He bragged about it, but not too much. 
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HOFFMAN: In a way, they WElre such contras ting personalities, 

Wi~son and Kyes. 

MCNEIL: . I knew him 'before he came down here. The ·truck company wa.s 

in the red for four years a.fter the war, never va.s in .the 'bla.ck. They 

put him. over there and he cut 1eadtime down to an a.verage of 11 days 

or less and got it in the black. He was good at something like that. 

He walked through the shipyard down in Washington, and he pointed out 

in 20 minutes how to make it work easier and fa.ster. He was good at 

plant layout. 

CONDIT: LeBaron told us that Mr. Wilson used to sit on matters and 

make no decision .. When he was asked, he would say, "Bob, when I 

understs.nd it, 1111 ma.ke a decision. tf . "But, If said Mr. LeBaron, I'he 

never understood it!" .And a.ccording to LeBaron, Sherman Adams called 

up saying that papers were piling up on his desk and he had to have 

decisions and what did Mr. Wilson think? 

MCNEIL: Well, LeBaron was sure at that time that you could get 

electric current developed for two mills per kilowatt. They can't 
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do it yet. WilsoD. doubted some of the things that Bob was trying 

to sell. Bob was on tbe right track, but a.bout 20 years ahead of 

f 
time. Tbat is really what the story w~. I can imagine Wilson sitting 

, 

on it for a long time, because Bob seldom ce.me in with a.. completed 

project. 

CONDIT: But they bypassed him. Le~on went to Sherman Adams, told 

Sherman Adams what he thought-, and Sherman Adams operated on it. I 

asked Mr. LeBaron what happened when the decisions came through. He 

said that Wilson really didn't know a.bout it until the decisions came 

through. I said, "Yes, but when they came through, he knew you had 

bypassed him. What did he do'l" And, according to the answer I got, 

. 
Wilson said, "Hm, hm., hm. ••• I guess it is all. right." And that 

was it. 

M.CNEIL: Wilson could make decisions quickly and he could string them. 

out, too. I told you one story about 'fwining and the generals, when 

he took from. 3 o'clock to 9:30 of an evening on the slipst1ck. He 
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cormIT: But he made a. decision, at least, six hours later. 

MCNEIL: Oh sure, he made the deCision. 

CONDIT: Well, this was six months. 

MCNEIL: Itll tell you a story about deciSions. Up in General Motors 

he had the same reputation: It was ha.rd.' to get decisions sometimes. 

But this -b,appened just before Wilson came down to Washington. One 

of the boys told me that Henry Ford and Ernie Breech pboned and wanted 

an appointment with Wilson one afternoon, 2 p.m •. He knew Wilson 

would. string it out, to find out what was behind the request and so 

forth. So two or three of the oth~r boys in the ottice phoned their 

wives and said they wouldn't be home tonightj they knew there was 

going to be a long session. Ford and Ernie Breech walked !nto the 

office, and Wilson met tbem baltway to the door and said, nWhat· do 

you want'll! -- ·to Ford. He said, "Well What they wanted!!!!. to see if 

they could get a bydromatic transmission on the Lincoln.t1 Wilson 

said, "Oke.y, bow many do you want'l!~ '~ell, probably 10,000." "Oka;y." 

"How-muoh'll! Wilson said it would cost so much, thanks very much. And 

i 
:­
i ' 
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they went ou.t in 30 seconds. If somebody asked WUson why he did 

that, he would have said it was very s1lJU)le. First, if they Used !-, , 

the GM hydrom&t1c, all the boys selling Olds and Ca.dilla.cs woul.d sa.y 

that Ford used that in their highest priced car, whil.e in their lower 

priced cars they used the Fordsma.tic. Next> aM would make a profit 

on every damn one of them. 

I never had any trouble getting a decision out of Wiison, because 

I told him the story campletel;y. If I went to h.i:Jb. with a fuzzy idea, 

I probably wouldn't get very far. Bob LeBaron was a wonderful guy. 

Gets a little fuzzy sometimes. Two mills per kilowatt! 

CONDIT: Well, this was one place he wasn't fuzzy, on this Wilson 

business. That story came through loud and clear. 

END OF TAPE 6 (MCNEIL) 

HOFFMAN: Was Wilson well prepared for the job of Secretary of Defense? 

MCNEIL: Well, if you have been president of GeneraJ. Motol's -you are not 

completel;y obli vieus to what is going on in the world. 
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HOFP'MAN: No, I aP.Pl'eciate that. WouJ.d you say his grasp of 
. , 

foreign Pollcy and its relationship to mil! tary ioUey increased 

during the periodY 

MCNEIL: Well, I am sure it must have, but I donlt think you would 

know it 11 Ying with him. 

HOFFMAN: You didn't see any major changes frOlll 53 through 57Y 

MCNEIL: No, because as I say, he knew wbere France was on the map 

before he became Secretary of Defense. Did busin:ess with the Germans. 

Did business with a lot of foreign people. So, be probably had as 

much background &s the average person, coming into that job, unless he 

had been a diplomat •. In fact, 11m not sure that by selling auto-

m.otiles e.:round the world and dealing with agents and dealers and 

foreign exchange' you wouldn't have a broader base than you would 

if you were a diplomat, at leAst from the practical standpOint. At 

N~O meetings and so forth he had no trouble getting along with h~s, 

opposite numbers -- ,none that I know of. Lovett, and I hate to use 

the word, but it I s right, was a smooth article. 

134 

I don't quite mean 

Pago determined to be Unclassifie 
Rtlviewed Chief. ROD, WHS 
lAW EO 13526. Section 3.5 
IThte: MI 0 6 2014 , 

li 
f. 
i 



J. ___ ~ 
f' '1"" • ". '- ......1:____ _ _______ _ 

that the way it sounds --don't give it the wrong cOBnotation. 

CONDIT;' He's 8. very cosmopolitan, urbane gentleman. , \-
HOFFMAN: I'd like to a.sk this question again by presenting it in a 

different perspective. Wilson in contrast to some of the people 

around him always seemed to rema.in composed and confident. He d1dn It 

downpl~ the Soviet Union but 'j h~ was not espec1&llf unnerved by 

the challenge posed by the USSR. He always tried to keep the threat_ 

in focus. Do you think that k.ind of balance is oue you are more 

likely to find in a person coming out of a business community as 

opposed to a person cOming out of a military background or an • • • 

MCNEIL: Or an. academic background. 

HOFFMAN: Or an academic background? 

MCNEIL: I would think so. 

HOFFMAN: Wh&t would be the factors that wouJ.d operate on the man 

with'business experience? 

MCNEIL: It seems to me that some of the experience. you would have in 

business would teach you to look at the other side of the coin i 
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occe.s1on~. If you are gOing to be in the tanker business you'd 

better watch out and.not overbi~. Again, in the fertilizer business 

you better not establish too m~y plants. Certainly that is true 

in the case of automobile production. If about a 72 days supply is 

. what you experience as being right, you get a little fightened 

when somebody talks about a 90 days supply. You also know ?fou're 

missing the mark if' you get down to 30-40 days supply at model change 

time. I just think you consciously or subconsciously learn to say,. 

'twell, What is the effect if we follow this course this mucb longer? 

Are we going too fast, or too far?!! Or, if' things are going bea.uti-

fully, ''Where should I hedge my bet?" 

HOFFMAN: And, is a person from a military or academic background 

going to have that same concern? 

MCNEIL: In an academic background you usually start bUilding and. you 

can't help getting a little dreaming in it. Bu.t y?U don't have to meet 

the same kind of obstacles, you don t t have to go through the same 

obstacle course. But we are speaking in an a.w~ general ma.nner. 

i 
I~ 
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HOFFMAN: It I S interesting because there is an incipient 

controversy emerging today. I don't know if it has much of a relation-

sbip to the 50s. It I S a division between some leaders in business who 

are advocating closer business and commercial connections with Com-

munist nations, pushing this because of their interest in selling to 

stable markets, and coming into confrontation wi til people from. the 

academic communities and labor unions who are fighting this trend. 

Things do change. For example, it is interesting to observe that the 

AFL/CIO last year honored Solzhenitsyn who would, ot course, have us 

cut off all communication, all dealings and. ties, with the Soviet Union 

whereas many business groups are advocating an expansion in trade with 

those countries. 

MCNEIL: They see some prof'! t over there. 

. HOF»f.AN: Yes, exactly, they see some profit over there. 

MCNEIL: Henry Glass -- I should give him most ot' the credit; he hel.pad 
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me, or I guess be not only helped, he probably was 7':1J, responsible 

tor the talk I gave to the ForrestaJ. Award dinner in February, 19E50: 

There we outlined the philosophy which Nimitz called the best 

possible solution that anybody had came up with yet for the Russian 

problem. We should do what we could to increase the standard of' 

living of' the Russian people, because to that extent you reduce the 

changes of' war. You do. So, ltd help do anything I could to raise 

standards of the Russian people. Tbat I s the them.e J one ot the themes, 

we had in tha.t speech. I'm sure Henry has a copy of'it. I gave 

mine all away. That f s the philosophy we outlined at the tiJne. And 

as I said, Nimitz said that was the best basic approaah to the Russian 

problem. 

HOFFMAN: Yes, that may be true, but the Soviet leadership bas con-

slatently demonstrated a propensity far taking what resources they 

have and. concentrating them in mill tary programs ra.ther than in 

ef'forts to raise their nation's standard of' living. 

MCNEIL: I agree, I agree. 
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HOFFMAN: Tha.t is the worrisome factor about it all. 

MCNEIL: When. they are short of food they' have got to ~ nice to 

other people in this world. They are in the food' business right nOw, 

aren't theyt 

HOFFMAN: Yes, they are. '.lhey are short of food -- producing relative~ 

less than the levels achieved under Czarist Russia. I would s~ that's 

not .much of a tribute to Communism. But on the other band they main-

ta.in several. million men under a..rms in Eastern Eu%:.opelt with an im-

pressi ve mill tary capability. 

MCNEIL: The solution to that is buy more A:-10 a.irpJ.e.nes which is 

built by Fairchild and which has a 30mm anti-tank gun. 

HOFFMAN: I don r t knCM hOw Wilson stood on this issue * One time I 

came acrOBS a memo General Bonesteel had written for Wilson. Wilson 

la.ter used the memo as a discussion base in the liSC. When Bonesteel 

wrote the memo it was very strident, very belligerent, but by the 

time Wilson got finished placing his touch on it the thrust of the 

argument had become moderate, far more moderate in tone. It was, such 
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8. striking contrast; it just carrpleteJ¥ cha.nged the whole character 

of the document. 1 was struck by that particular incident because 

it showed me the pattern of Wilson's general attitude. 1 don't maw 

if Dull.es thought that way or not. Dulles t public pronouncements 

were, of course • 

. MCNEIL: Pretty rigid. 

HOFliMAN: Pretty rigid. In private he aeems to have 'been more moderate 

. 
tban I would have' thougbt, more lik.e Wilson in th~t regard. still 1 t 

is hard to pin down the sensibilities involved. Ike, of course) &1 .. 

ways sought to be moderate,al.though be remained w&r7. His attitudes 

presume.bly carried over from. WIl when he saw certain limitations and 

certain assets in the Soviet Union. It's hard to pin those'things. 

down, yet those basic attitudes greatly influence the general. sense of 

the times. 

MCNEIL: ' Well, to go back to .the feast or famine approach or philoso-

p'by I I think that I S one decision where we were right. I don t t know 

whether we va l~ short or lot. over right now, or 2'" under or over 
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for that matter. But I think we are basica.lly on the beam as far as 

avoiding peaks and ve.lleys in our basic current structure. 

HOli'FMAN: It was Eisenbower who was criticized by Congress for being 

tight, but if you compare Eisenhower with what happened after WWII, he 

, was maintaining the largest peace time military establisbment in 

United States history. It was considerable. And his defense budgets, 

if you measure them by the percentage of tbe GNP, were higher than in 

any peacetime period, including Vietnam. 

MCNEIL: That t s true. 

HOFFMAN: In some ways it was a gre8:t selling job. Of course, it's 

'always hard to make these comparisons when you account for the varied 

rates of inflation and the fact that defense is always infl&ting more 

rapidly than the general economy. 

MCNEIL: Also we probably have a higher percentage of personnel in-

vestments in the budget than we do hardware. ,Am I correct? . 

HOFFM.AN': Todayt Yes. It's very hard to make this kind of evaluation. 

People tend to think of the Eisenhower period as one of fiscal con- .. Q 
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servatbm and restraint -and indeed it wa.s. 

MCNEIL: Like I said earlier it is not stra.nge to find very senior 

military peop1e to be quite conservative on the spending side. When . 

you get them alone they have a good attitude. Wben they are heading 

their troops in formation, that I S one thing, but when you get them 

alone it is sometimes surprising bow conservative they are. Ike is 

one, Nimitz is one. Oh, I could name a 10t of them. 

" " 

HOFFMAN: He certainly came in with. convictions, ~ Humphrey certainly 

encouraged those convictions. There waan It any dissension there. You 

have been very kind, Mr. Secretary"in allowing us to keep you so 10ng. 

MCNEIL: Well, whether it's been he1pful. or not, it's been a lot of 

fun. .' " ...... 
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